
 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

        
        

 
   

 
  

 
   

  
 

 
  

 
 
  

    
 

 
  

 
 
        
 
        
        
        

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
Washington, DC 20463 

April 15, 2021 

VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 
E. Stewart Crosland 
Jones Day 
51 Louisiana Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20001 

RE: MURs 7265, 7266 
Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 
Bradley T. Crate in his official     
capacity as treasurer 

Dear Mr. Crosland: 

On July 17, 2017, and July 20, 2017, the Federal Election Commission notified your firm 
of complaints alleging that your clients, Make America Great Again PAC (formerly known as 
Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, 
had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. 

On March 9, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints but was equally divided 
on whether to find reason to believe your clients violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. 
§ 110.20(g).  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in these matters. 

Documents related to these cases will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See 
Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 
(Aug. 2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. A Statement of Reasons explaining the 
Commission’s decision will follow. 

If you have any questions, please contact Amanda Andrade, the attorney assigned to 
these matters, at (202) 694-1650. 

Jin Lee 
Acting Assistant General Counsel 

Sincerely, 

MUR726500120

mailto:scrosland@jonesday.com
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	SUMMARY OF THE LAW 
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	12. 
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	Federal law prohibits a foreign national from directly or indirectly making a "contribution or donation of money or other thing of value, or to make an express or implied promise to make a contribution or donation, in connection with a Federal, State, or local election[.]" 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(l)(A), and prohibits a person from soliciting, accepting or receiving such a contribution or donation from a foreign national, id. a§ 3012l(a)(2). 

	13. 
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	FECA defines "foreign national" as a "foreign principal" or "an individual who is not a citizen ofthe United States or a national ofthe United States." 52 U.S.C. § 3012l(b). 
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	FECA defines "contribution" to include "any gift ... ofmoney or anything ofvalue made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office." 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i). 
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	The Commission has defined "to solicit" by regulation to mean "to ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer offunds, or otherwise provide anything ofvalue." 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (for the purposes of the prohibition of solicitation offoreign national contributions, solicit has the same meaning as in 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). The regulation elaborates: 


	A solicitation is an oral or written communication that, construed as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value. A solicitation may be made directly or indirectly. The context includes the conduct of persons involved in the communication. 
	Id. 
	17. 
	17. 
	17. 
	The Commission by regulation has defined "agent," in the case of agents of a candidate, to include "any person who has actual authority, either express or implied, to ... solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with any election." 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3). 
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	The Commission regulation implementing the statutory foreign national solicitation ban provides that "[n]o person shall knowingly solicit, accept, or receive from a foreign national any contribution or donation" in connection with any Federal, State, or local election. 11 C.F.R. § l 10.20(g). The regulation further provides that "[n]o person shall knowingly provide substantial assistance in the solicitation, making, acceptance, or 


	5 
	receipt ofa contribution or donation" by a foreign national in connection with any 
	Federal, State, or local election. 11 C.F.R. § l 10.20(h). 
	CAUSE OF ACTION 

	DONALD J. TRUM_P FOR PRESIDENT, INC. AND DONALD TRUMP JR. KNOWINGLY SOLICITED A CONTRIBUTION FROM A FOREIGN NATIONAL IN VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN ACT 
	DONALD J. TRUM_P FOR PRESIDENT, INC. AND DONALD TRUMP JR. KNOWINGLY SOLICITED A CONTRIBUTION FROM A FOREIGN NATIONAL IN VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN ACT 
	19. 
	19. 
	19. 
	Federal law prohibits any person from soliciting a contribution from a foreign national. 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2), 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g). 

	20. 
	20. 
	Donald Trump Jr. knowingly met with a foreign national, Natalia Veselnitskaya, for the purpose ofsoliciting a "contribution" as defined at 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i) ("anything ofvalue ... for the purpose ofinfluencing any election for Federal office") to his father's presidential campaign committee, Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.-namely damaging information about Hillary Clinton. 

	21. 
	21. 
	Donald Trump Jr. was an agent of Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. with authority to solicit contributions on behalf of Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and was doing so in his meeting with Ms. Veselnitskaya, as evidenced by the fact that he brought then­campaign chairman Paul J. Manafort to the meeting, which took place in the same building where Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. headquarters was and is located. 

	22. 
	22. 
	Therefore, based on published reports, there is reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Donald Trump Jr. knowingly solicited a contribution from a foreign 


	national in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g). 

	PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
	PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
	23. Wherefore, the Commission should find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Donald Trump Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30101, et seq., including 52 
	U.S.C. § 30121, and conduct an immediate investigation under 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(2). 
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	Further, the Commission should determine and impose appropriate sanctions for any and 
	all violations, should enjoin respondent from any and all violations in the future, and 
	should impose such additional remedies as are necessary and appropriate to ensure 
	compliance with the FECA. 
	July 10, 2017 
	Respectfully submitted, 
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	Common Cause, by Paul S. Ryan 805 Fifteenth Street, NW, Suite 800 Washington, DC 20005 
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	Paul S. Ryan 805 Fifteenth Street, NW, Suite 800 Washington, DC 20005 (202) 833-1200 
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	VERIFICATION 
	VERIFICATION 
	The complainants listed below hereby verify that the statements made in the attached Complaint are, upon their information and belief, true. Sworn pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 
	For Complainants Common Cause and Paul S. Ryan 
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	Paul S. Ryan Sworn to and subscribed before me this uJ!day ofJuly 2017. 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON. O.C. 20463 
	JUL 1.7 2017 
	Megan Sowards Newton Jones Day Sl Louisiana A venue, NW Washington, DC 20001 
	RE: MUR 7265 
	Dear Ms. Newton: 
	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates your clients, Donald Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy of the complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7265. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against your clients, Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration of this matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be a
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies. 
	1 

	Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records and materials relating to the subject matter ofthe complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this matter. See 18 U.S.C. § 1519. 
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations of law not within its jurisdiction to appropriate Jaw enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Figure
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following ( note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination and Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 999 E Street, NW Washington, DC 20463 
	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination and Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 999 E Street, NW Washington, DC 20463 
	OR 
	Email CELA@fec.gov 


	If you have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1650 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON. D C. 20463 
	Figure
	Donald Trump, Jr. c/o The Trump Organization 725 Fifth Avenue New York, NY 10022 
	-.JUL-17 2017 

	RE: MUR 7265 
	Dear Mr. Trump: 
	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates you may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy of the complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7265. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against you in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration of this matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's Office, must be submitted within 15 days of receipt of this letter. Ifn
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(l2)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies. 
	2 

	If you intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number ofsuch counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records and materials relating to the subject matter of the complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30I 09(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations of law not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30 I 07(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination and Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 999 E Street, NW Washington, DC 20463 
	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination and Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 999 E Street, NW Washington, DC 20463 
	OR 
	Email CELA@fec.gov 


	Ifyou have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1650 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	J:.ordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	JONES DAY 
	51 LOUISIANA AVENUE. N.W . • WASHINGTON. D.C . 20001.2 113 TELE PHONE: +1.202.879.3939 • FACSIM ILE: + 1.202.626.1700 
	Digitally signed by Christal 
	~~~Dennis Date: 
	August 14, 2017 

	10:44:40
	2017.08.30 

	·04'00' 
	VIA EMAIL 

	Kathleen Guith Office of General Counsel Federal Election Commission 999 E Street, NW Washington, DC 20463 
	Re: Matter Under Review 7265 
	Re: Matter Under Review 7265 
	Dear Ms. Guith: 
	On behalfof our client, Donald J. Trnmp for President, Inc. (the "Committee"), we write to info1m you that the Committee has received the Complaint in the above-referenced Matter Under Review and to request a 30-day extension, until September 9, 2017, of the deadline for the Committee's response. The extension will allow counsel and the Committee adequate oppo1tunity to review and respond to the Complaint. 
	Thank you in advance for your prompt consideration ofour request. 
	Sincerely, 
	Megan Sowards Newton 
	ALKHOBAR • AMSTERDAM •AT LANTA • BEIJING • BOSTON • BRISBANE • BRUSSELS • CHICAGO • CLEVELAND •COLUMB US• DALLAS DETROIT • DUBAI • D0 SSEL0O RF • FRANKFU RT • HONG KONG • HOUSTON • IRVINE • JED0 AH • LONDON • LOS ANGELES • MADRID MEXICO CITY • MIAMI • MIL AN • MINNEAPOLIS • MOSCOW • MUNICH • NEW YORK • PARIS • PERTH • PITT SBURGH • RIYADH SAN DIEGO. SAN FRANCISCO • sA.o PAULO • SHANGHAI • SILICON VALLEY • SINGAPO RE • SYDNEY • TAIPEI • TOKYO • WASHINGTON 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	Megan Sowards Newton 
	Megan Sowards Newton 
	Megan Sowards Newton 
	AUG 30 2017 

	Jones Day 
	Jones Day 

	51 Louisiana A venue NW 
	51 Louisiana A venue NW 

	Washington, DC 20001-2113 
	Washington, DC 20001-2113 

	TR
	RE: MUR 7265 

	TR
	Donald Trump for 

	TR
	President, Inc. 


	Dear Ms. Newton: 
	This is in response to your letter dated August 14, 2017, requesting an extension to respond to the complaint filed in the above-noted matter. After considering the circumstances presented in your letter, the Office of General Counsel has granted your request. Your response will be due on or before September 8, 2017. 
	If you have any questions, please contact me at 202-694-1519. 
	Sincerely, 

	r){!_~l/lu_) 
	r){!_~l/lu_) 
	Christal Dennis, Paralegal Complaints Examination and Legal Administration 
	Figure
	Digitally signed by BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Christal Dennis ) 15:53:56 -04'00' ) MUR 7265/7266 ) 
	Date: 2017.09.14 

	RESPONSE OF DONALD J. TRUMP FOR PRESIDENT, INC. AND BRADLEY T. CRATE, AS TREASURER, TO THE COMPLAINTS 
	By and through undersigned counsel, Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., and Bradley T. Crate, as Treasurer, ("Respondents" or the "Campaign") respond to the Complaints in the above­captioned MURs. We respectfully request that the Commission find no reason to believe a violation has occurred, dismiss the Complaints, and close the files. 
	1 

	1 Since MUR 7266 appears to supplement the same allegations and repeat the same circumstances as MUR 7265 Respondents submit this response to address the allegations in all Complaints. 
	1 Since MUR 7266 appears to supplement the same allegations and repeat the same circumstances as MUR 7265 Respondents submit this response to address the allegations in all Complaints. 

	Introduction 
	Introduction 
	These Complaints state that federal campaign finance laws prohibit a person from "solicit[ing]" "a contribution or donation of money or other thing of value" from "a foreign national" "in connection with a Federal, State, or local election." 52 U.S.C. § 30121. That much is true. Yet the email record Complainants attach to their Complaint makes clear that the meeting at issue was not solicited by Donald Trump, Jr. but by Ms. Veselnitskaya or her associates, with the false promise that information damaging to
	In any event, even assuming for the sake of argument that Donald Trump, Jr. (or any agent of the campaign) somehow "solicited" information ---an assumption for which there is no evidence ---such information would not amount to "a contribution or donation ofmoney or other 
	thing of value". Furthermore, any conversation in which such information is revealed would be political speech, and such political speech is both encouraged by the law and takes place frequently in all campaigns as individuals, institutions and campaigns exchange ideas and information. This is not, and cannot be, a contribution under the Federal Election Campaign Act ("Act") or the Commission's regulations. 
	The Commission should dismiss these Complaints for four reasons: 
	I. The Complaints are legally deficient under the Commission's precedents because they fail to recite any facts that constitute a violation of the Act or Commission Regulations by the Campaign. 
	II. A conversation regarding a candidate's fitness for office is pure political speech protected by the First Amendment. 
	III. The information at issue does not meet the definition of a "contribution" under Commission Regulations, precedent or basic principles of statutory interpretation. 
	IV. Because the alleged information at issue does not meet the definition of a "contribution", it also could not have been "solicited" within the meaning ofthe Act. 
	At its core, a meeting between campaign representatives and those who seek to provide it with information or ideas cannot be a "contribution" or a "solicitation". As a practical matter, in every election cycle, advocates, experts, think tanks and interest groups, some of them representing foreign countries, meet with campaigns. Often campaign representatives meet with and solicit ideas on policies and politics from interest groups, university professors or representatives of foreign governments. These exper
	2 
	2 

	papers have never been considered a "thing of value" required to be reported as contributions or prohibited as impennissible foreign contributions. 
	Neither the Act nor any other law requires a campaign to reject these ideas, meetings or infonnation provided by representatives of these entities because the sources of the research are non-federal dollars. It has never been and it is not now a "contribution" ifa scholar leaves behind a white paper developed with the research funds of an incorporated educational institution or a lobbyist leaves behind a white paper on an issue of importance to his union or her trade association in hopes those ideas make th
	As a matter of law, it does not matter if these advocates or experts are foreign nationals. The political attaches of many foreign governments meet with campaigns. As Clinton campaign chairman John Podesta acknowledged on MSNBC, meetings with foreign representatives by campaigns are common. Podesta said, "I think it's a sort of a little bit of a cottage industry for foreign representatives in the country to try to figure out what's happening, what's the -likely result .. . so that they can report back to th
	3 
	no one has suggested that these forms ofspeech constitute "contributions" of"things ofvalue" or 
	resulted from improper "solicitations". 
	In the course of such meetings, it has never been a violation to seek a non-U.S. citizen's views on an issue impacting his or her country or to ask what he or she knows of a political opponent. If a representative of Great Britain offers a white paper on how the U.S. and its leaders might approach Brexit, it cannot be a violation to accept that product. Even if a representative of a foreign government or a non-U.S. citizen presents negative information about a political opponent, it is not a violation ofthe
	Significantly, the Complaint here does not allege that the Clinton campaign, the Democratic Party or its operatives violated the law for accepting and pedaling the infamous "Steele Dossier" prepared by Fusion GPS concerning Donald Trump. As The Independent reported earlier this year, "Fusion GPS, which is based in Washington DC and was established by former Wall Street Journal reporters Glenn Simpson and Peter Fritsch, found itself in the spotlight earlier this year after it was discovered to have been behi
	The Complaint alleges, without a shred of evidence, that "opposition research" was exchanged and should be a "thing ofvalue". Yet in MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill et al.) 
	4 
	the Commission dismissed a similar complaint which involved a conversation in which polling 
	infonnation was exchanged. As Senator McCaskill's attorney, Marc Elias (who also represented Hillary Clinton's Presidential campaign) successfully argued: "[I]t would be antithetical to that [American political] tradition to suggest that the Federal Election Commission should step in to regulate [conversations] as 'contributions."' Response of McCaskill for Missouri in MUR 6958 at I. 
	I. The Complaints Are Legally Deficient and Must Be Dismissed Because They Fail to Clearly and Concisely Recite Any Facts That Constitute a Violation ofthe Act or Commission Regulations by the Campaign. 
	Under the Act and Commission regulations, a complaint must satisfy specific requirements in order to be deemed legally sufficient. Specifically, a complaint must contain a "clear and concise recitation ofthe facts which describe a violation ofstatute or regulation over which the Commission has jurisdiction." 11 C.F.R. § l l 1.4(d)(3). Indeed, absent such a "clear and concise recitation ofthe facts," a complaint is legally deficient and must be dismissed. See MUR 6554 (Friends of Weiner), Factual and Legal A
	Consistent with these regulatory requirements, the Commission has already made clear that simple speculation by a complainant is insufficient and does not establish that there is reason to believe a violation occurred. MUR 5467 (Michael Moore), First General Counsel's Report at 5 ("Purely speculative charges, especially when accompanied by a direct refutation, do not form the adequate basis to find reason to believe that a violation of [the Act] has occurred" (quoting 
	5 
	5 

	MUR 4960 Statement ofReasons at 3)). Due process and fundamental fairness dictate that the 
	burden must not shift to a respondent merely because a complaint is filed with the Commission. See MUR 4850 (Deloitte & Touche, LLP), Statement of Reasons of Chairman Darryl R. Wold and Commissioners David M. Mason and Scott E. Thomas at 2 (rejecting the Office ofGeneral Counsel's recommendation to find reason to believe because the respondent did not specifically deny conclusory allegations, and holding that "[a] mere conclusory allegation without any supporting evidence does not shift the burden ofproof t
	Furthermore, "the RTB standard does not permit a complainant to present mere allegations that the Act has been violated and request that the Commission undertake an investigation to determine whether there are facts to support the charges [ ... ] . The Commission must have more than anonymous suppositions, unswom statements and unanswered questions before it can vote to find RTB and thereby commence an investigation." See MUR 6056 (Protect Colorado Jobs, Inc.), Statement of Reasons ofVice Chairman Matthew S
	These Complaints' wishful legal theories do not satisfy the Commission's regulatory requirements to support a reason to believe finding. Machinists Non-partisan Political Action 
	6 
	6 

	Comm. v. FEC, 655 F.2d 380, 388 (D.C. Cir. 1981) ("[M]ere 'official curiosity' will not suffice as the basis for FEC investigations"). 
	II. A Conversation Regarding a Candidate's Fitness for Office Is Pure Political Speech Protected by The First Amendment. 
	A conversation in which information regarding a candidate's fitness for office is revealed is pure political speech protected by the First Amendment, which prohibits any reading that treats speech as a "thing of value" regulated by the campaign finance laws. The cornerstone of the Supreme Court's modem campaign finance jurisprudence is the distinction between engaging in "pure (political] expression" and making a political contribution. Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. I, 17 ( 1976). Congress, of course, lacks th
	7 
	These observations apply with full force to speech about a political candidate's flaws. The First Amendment protects the rights of speakers to engage in "criticism of [a political candidate's] character and her fitness for the office of the Presidency," and the rights of listeners to hear such criticisms. Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 325 (2010). Speakers thus have the right to present, and campaigns have the right to request, infonnation about political candidates. And Congress has no constitutiona
	This equally is true when the source of the infonnation is a foreign national. It is "inherent in the nature of the political process" that candidates and voters "must be free to obtain infonnation from diverse sources" in order to determine how to campaign and to cast their votes. Id. at 341. And while foreign nationals may not have a First Amendment right to make monetary or in-kind contributions in American elections (see Bluman v. FEC, 800 F. Supp. 2d 281, 288 (2011)), American citizens unquestionably h
	Moreover, even if viewed exclusively from the perspective of the foreign national's right to speak, Bluman itself made clear that such people have a right to "speak out" about political issues. Bluman, at 290; see Bridges v. Wixon, 326 U.S. 135, 148 (1945). Indeed, 
	800 F.Supp.2d 

	8 
	8 

	as John Podesta's comments earlier this year acknowledged, foreign nationals, often but not always embassy attaches, regularly talk to campaign staff (since foreign governments want to keep track of the campaigns) and sometimes help campaigns, see p. 3, supra. Presumably in these meetings, U.S. campaign staff can seek information about developments in the foreign country from the foreign embassy attaches or foreign nationals and that information can be used 
	by the campaign without triggering a contribution. 
	A contrary understanding of the First Amendment would lead to bizarre results. Under such a reading, for example, ifa politician violates the law by hiring an illegal alien to work as a nanny, Congress could prohibit the nanny from revealing this to the opposing campaign. If a politician hires a foreign prostitute, Congress could prohibit a campaign staffer from asking for information about the scandal. These outcomes, of course, cannot be squared with the bedrock principle that "debate on the fitness of ca
	III. The Information at Issue Does Not Meet the Definition of A 'Contribution' Under the Act, Commission Regulations or Commission Precedent. 
	The Act defines "contribution" to mean "any gift, subscription, loan, advance or deposit ofmoney or anything of value made by any person for the purpose ofinfluencing any election for Federal office." 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i); see also 11 C.F.R. §§ . Yet the campaign finance regulations have never been read to construe a mere conversation between an individual and a campaign as a "contribution." The phrase "contribution or donation ofmoney or other thing ofvalue" indicates the item must have ascertainable
	100.51-100.56

	9 
	9 

	perfectly natural to refer to items with an ascertainable monetary value as a "contribution or donation"; one might contribute non-monetary items to a political campaign such as office equipment and supplies, polling data, a donor list, or shares ofstock. But no one would use the words "contribution" or "donation" to characterize a conversation between a third party and a campaign regarding the shortcomings ofan opposing candidate. 
	This commonsense notion is confinned by precedent. In recently decided MUR 6958, three Commissioners concluded that a pollster "discussing poll results 'in general"' with a campaign committee but not providing the recipient with "access to data, cross-tabulations, questions asked, and methodology" is not "something of value." MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill et al.), Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Caroline C. Hunter and Commissioners Lee E. Goodman, and Matthew S. Peterson at 6-7. In voting against fi
	10 
	Figure
	Even so, Complainants attempt to twist several advisory opinionsand enforcement actions to support their position that information can qualify as a "thing ofvalue." To be sure, the FEC has treated information as a "thing ofvalue" when it comes in the form ofa commercially distributed product that has an ascertainable value -for example, a voter contact list or a collection ofpoll results. See, e.g., Advisory Opinion 1990-12 (treating poll results as a thing ofvalue); Advisory Opinion 2007-22 (treating voter
	2 

	As the Commission understands, advisory opinions are specific to the activity set forth in a request and may not be used as a sword against others. 
	2 

	11 
	vendors provided information with no ascertainable commercial value and without any 
	contractual obligation to provide such information. 
	Taken to its logical conclusion, Complainants would have the Commission find that representatives ofthe Center for American Progress or the Heritage Foundation who provide a research paper in conjunction with a campaign meeting constitutes a thing ofvalue which must be reported by a campaign as an in-kind contribution. Or that a campaign policy director talking with the AFL-CIO or U.S. Chamber of Commerce about an issue, and incorporating those thoughts into a candidate's position papers or speeches, would 
	In short, the citations provided by the Complainants offer no support for the notion that a conversation in which a speaker provides negative information about an opposing candidate amounts to a contribution. 
	3 

	IV. Principles ofStatutory Interpretation Support the View That Under the Act the Information at Issue Is Not a Contribution. 
	12 
	Under basic principles of statutory construction, the Act's provisions that tie the penalties for unlawful contributions to the monetary value of the contribution demonstrate that conversations and information cannot be a contribution. For example, the statute imposes a five­year prison term for unlawful contributions "aggregating $25,000 or more during a calendar year," but a one-year prison term for unlawful contributions "aggregating $2,000 or more (but less than $25,000) during a calendar year." 52 U.S.
	Another familiar principle of statutory interpretation "counsels that a word is given more precise content by the neighboring words with which it is associated." Freeman v. Quicken Loans, Inc., 132 S. Ct. 2034, 2042 (2012). Since the word ''value" neighbors the word "money," it plainly refers to monetary value-not some intangible value such as political value or sentimental value. Whether or not discussion of a political candidate's flaws has intangible political value, it certainly lacks an ascertainable m
	13 
	value" follow the more specific word "money." So the general words "other thing of value" must be interpreted to encompass only things similar to money-again, things with ascertainable monetary value. Speech about a political candidate's flaws is not a thing with ascertainable 
	monetary value. 
	Finally, even if the Commission were to conclude that the information provided had an ascertainable value, a point which we do not concede, these views cannot trump the First Amendment nor can they carry any weight in the interpretation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121. Section 30121 is a criminal law, and "[c]riminal laws are for the courts, not for the Government, to construe." Abramski v. United States, 134 S. Ct. 2259, 2274 (2014); see also United States v. Apel, 134 S. Ct. l 144, 1151 ("we have never held that the
	V. Because the Information at Issue Does Not Meet the Definition of a 'Contribution,' It Also Cannot Have Been Solicited Within the Meaning ofthe Act. 
	Under the Act, "to solicit" means "to ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value." 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). "A solicitation is an oral or written communication that, construed as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anythi
	14 
	§ 300.2(m)(3)(iv) states that a comment such as, "Thank you for your continuing support," offered at a GOTV rally would not constitute a solicitation. Therefore, as a matter of law, tl}e conduct at issue in the Complaints cannot satisfy the definition of"to solicit" and the Commission should dismiss these Complaints and close the files. 
	That "infonnation" must not be treated as a "contribution" or something of value is also recognized by the ethics and gift rules applicable to executive and legislative branch officials. See e.g., Senate Code of Official Conduct, Rule XXXV (gift rules "shall not apply to the following ... Informational materials that are sent to the office of the Member, officer, or employee in the form ofbooks, articles, periodicals, other written materials, audiotapes, videotapes, or other forms of communication"); House 
	That "infonnation" must not be treated as a "contribution" or something of value is also recognized by the ethics and gift rules applicable to executive and legislative branch officials. See e.g., Senate Code of Official Conduct, Rule XXXV (gift rules "shall not apply to the following ... Informational materials that are sent to the office of the Member, officer, or employee in the form ofbooks, articles, periodicals, other written materials, audiotapes, videotapes, or other forms of communication"); House 
	3 


	Conclusion 
	Conclusion 
	For the aforementioned reasons, Complainants have failed to demonstrate any reason to believe that the Campaign has violated the law, and we respectfully request that the Commission dismiss the Complaints and close the files. 
	Respectfully, 
	~ ~-~ 
	Benjamin L. Ginsberg Megan S. Newton JONES DAY 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 879-3939 
	Counsel for Donald J Trump for President, Inc., and Bradley T Crate, Treasurer 
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	The Complaints in these matters allege that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., and 
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	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), the authorized 
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	committee of 2016 presidential candidate Donald J. Trump, as well as several representatives of 
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	violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).  Specifically, 


	Figure
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	1 these Complaints concern a meeting held on June 9, 2016 (the “June 9 meeting”) organized by 2 Trump’s son and senior campaign advisor, Donald Trump Jr., that occurred at Trump Tower in 3 New York City. 4 Based on the available information, it appears that Trump Jr., in his capacity as an agent 5 of the Trump Committee, solicited opposition research on candidate Trump’s opponent from 6 individuals he knew to be Russian nationals.  In these circumstances, the damaging information 7 solicited by Trump Jr. co
	10 a foreign national.  Further, we recommend that the Commission notify as Respondents Aras 11 Agalarov and Emin Agalarov, the Russian nationals who apparently offered the damaging 12 information.  Finally, we recommend that the Commission take no action at this time with regard 13 to Rob Goldstone, in light of Goldstone’s overall role, and with regard to Jared Kushner and Paul 14 Manafort because we lack sufficient information regarding their involvement.  If we learn of 15 additional information regardin
	3
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	1 the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence.  The June 9 meeting participants were Trump Jr., 
	4

	2 Campaign Chairman Manafort, senior campaign advisor Kushner, a contingent of Russian 
	3 nationals led by former Russian prosecutor Natalia Veselnitskaya including lobbyist Rinat 
	4 Akhmetshin, Irakli “Ike” Kaveladze, and Anatoli Samochornov, and, finally, Rob Goldstone, 
	5 who worked for Emin Agalarov.
	5 

	6 The background to this meeting began several years prior to the 2016 election, with the 
	7 introduction of the Trump family to the Agalarov family.  According to the Special Counsel’s 
	8 Report, “Aras Agalarov is a Russian real-estate developer with ties to [Russian President 
	9 Vladimir] Putin and other members of the Russian government.”  In 2013, through their 
	6

	10 respective organizations, the Crocus Group and the Trump Organization, Aras Agalarov worked 
	11 with Donald Trump in connection with the Miss Universe pageant held in Moscow.  Shortly 
	7

	12 thereafter, Agalarov’s firm, the Crocus Group, and the Trump Organization entered into 
	U.S. SENATE SELECT COMM. ON INTELLIGENCE, RUSSIAN ACTIVE MEASURES CAMPAIGNS AND INTERFERENCE IN THE 2016 U.S. ELECTION, VOLUME 5: COUNTERINTELLIGENCE, THREATS AND VULNERABILITIES at 345-395 (Aug. 18, 2020) (“Senate Intelligence Committee Report”). The Senate Intelligence Committee explained that its “investigation focused on the counterintelligence threat posed by the Russian intelligence services” while the Special Counsel focused on criminal activity. Id. at 4. 
	4 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 6, 111, 117 (describing Goldstone as a publicist to Emin Agalarov); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 322, 364; see also Compl. at 2-4, MUR 7265 (July 10, 2017) (alleging same); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 270 (describing Goldstone as Emin’s “aide” and promoter). Goldstone appears to be a British national. See, e.g., Rosalind S. Helderman, How a British Music Publicist Ended up in the Middle of the Russia Storm, WASH. POST music-publicist-ended-up-in-the-middle-
	5 
	(Sept. 22, 2018), https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/how-a-british
	-

	-

	Special Counsel’s Report at 110; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 261 (detailing Aras Agalarov’s construction and real estate businesses, connections to Putin, and associations with Russian organized crime). 
	6 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67 n.291; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 259; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 271, 275-79 (detailing Miss Universe planning emails between Trump Organization employees and Goldstone, for the Agalarovs). 
	7 
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	1 discussions regarding a potential Trump Moscow real-estate project.The Special Counsel’s 
	8 

	2 Report states that Trump Jr. served as “the primary negotiator for the Trump Organization,” 
	3 while Emin Agalarov, Agalarov’s son, and Ike Kaveladze “represented the Crocus Group during 
	4 negotiations.”  Emin Agalarov and Trump Jr. signed “preliminary terms of an agreement for the 
	9

	5 Trump Tower Moscow project” in December 2013 and negotiated a letter of intent in early 2014, 
	6 but the project never “developed past” the planning stage; the last apparent communication 
	7 between the two groups about the project occurred in late November 2014.
	10 

	8 Despite the failed real estate deal, the Agalarovs and the Trumps remained on friendly 
	9   For instance, on June 16, 2015, the day Trump announced his candidacy, Goldstone 
	terms.
	11

	10   On 
	emailed Trump Jr. asking him to pass on his and Emin Agalarov’s congratulations.
	12

	11 February 29, 2016, Aras Agalarov reportedly sent Trump and Trump Jr. a letter to congratulate 
	12 candidate Trump on winning the Republican primary and to offer his “support and that of many 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 67-68 (“From January 2014 through November 2014, the Trump Organization and Crocus Group discussed development plans for the Moscow project.”); id. at 110-11 (describing how Agalarov, as president of the Crocus Group, “worked with Trump in connection with the 2013 Miss Universe pageant in Moscow and a potential Trump Moscow real-estate project”). 
	8 

	Id. at 67; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 267 (stating that Emin Agalarov is “Executive Vice President of Crocus group”); id. at 301 (citing November 19, 2013, email from Trump Jr. to Emin Agalarov introducing himself “for the first time” and expressing interest in Trump Tower Moscow project). 
	9 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67-68; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 307-09 (describing several meetings from winter to spring 2014, including meetings between Trump Jr., Emin Agalarov, and Goldstone in January 2014 in New York City and in Doral, Florida in March 2014, but concluding that discussions “slowed” by late summer to fall 2014). 
	10 

	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 310-11, n.2027 (describing several meetings between Trump, Emin Agalarov, and Goldstone at Trump Tower in early 2015 that Goldstone described, in testimony to the Senate Committee, as “personal” and about which Emin Agalarov reportedly said “We kind of hang out”). Goldstone and Emin Agalarov both testified to the Senate committee that, in a meeting at Trump Tower in May 2015, Trump discussed running for president. Id. at 311. 
	11 

	Id. at 312. 
	12 
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	1 of his important Russian friends and colleagues[,] especially with reference to U.S./Russian 
	2 relations.”
	13
	  Trump apparently responded with a handwritten letter.
	14 

	3 According to both the Special Counsel’s and Senate Intelligence Committee reports, what 
	4 ultimately became the June 9 meeting originated from a June 3, 2016, phone call from Emin 
	5 The Special Counsel’s Report, in a heavily-redacted section, describes 
	Agalarov to Goldstone.
	15 

	6 the phone call as follows:  “Goldstone understood [redacted] a Russian political connection, and 
	7 Emin Agalarov indicated that the attorney was a prosecutor.  Goldstone recalled that the 
	8 information that might interest the Trumps involved Hillary Clinton. The [redacted] mentioned 
	9 by Emin Agalarov was Natalia Veselnitskaya.”  Goldstone also described the call in testimony 
	16

	10 to the Senate Intelligence Committee:  “[Emin] asked if I could possibly contact ‘the Trumps’. . . 
	11 because his father had met with a well-connected government lawyer in his office, who had some 
	12 interesting information about illicit Russian funding to the Democrats and its candidate; and 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 111 (quoting Email from Goldstone, on behalf of Aras Agalarov, Feb. 29, 2016, which the Special Counsel’s Report labels as sent to “Trump Jr. et al.”) (alteration in original). During Trump’s candidacy, Goldstone also continued to propose commercial transactions with Trump Jr., though it is not clear whether the Agalarovs were engaged in these proposals. See Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 313-18 (quoting emails between Goldstone, Trump Jr and others about Goldstone’s pro
	13 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 321-22; see also id. at 319-21 (detailing multiple communications between Trumps and Agalarovs and including images of handwritten notes). 
	14 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 111 (citing Goldstone 2/8/18 FBI 302; Call Records of Robert Goldstone); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 345. 
	15 

	Id. at 111-12. The Senate Intelligence Committee describes Veselnitskaya as “a Russian lawyer who previously worked for, and remains in contact with, senior individuals in the Russian government” and states that she had “significant and concerning connections to Russian . . . intelligence officials.” Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 329, 333. Veselnitskaya told the committee she had done work for Aras Agalarov since 2013 or 2014. Id. at 338. In January 2019, DOJ unsealed an indictment against Veselni
	16 
	https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdny/pr/russian-attorney-natalya-veselnitskaya-charged-obstruction-justice
	-
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	1 could I pass that on and get the meeting.”  Goldstone further testified that, when he indicated to 
	17

	2 Emin that he did not know “what you’re asking me to convey,” Emin replied: “There’s 
	3 information, it’s potentially damaging to the Democrats and Hillary, and I think you should 
	4 contact the Trumps; my dad would really like this meeting to take place.”Goldstone testified 
	18 

	5 that Emin said, “Please, just ask for the meeting. You don’t need to do anything else.”
	19 

	6 Shortly after this phone call, Goldstone sent Trump Jr. the following email with the 
	7 subject “Russia — Clinton — private and confidential”: 
	8 Good morning 
	9 Emin just called and asked me to contact you with something very 10 interesting. 
	11 The Crown prosecutor of Russia met with his father Aras this 12 morning and in their meeting offered to provide the Trump 13 campaign with some official documents and information that 14 would incriminate Hillary and her dealings with Russia and would 15 be very useful to your father. 
	16 This is obviously very high level and sensitive information but is 17 part of Russia and its government’s support for Mr. Trump — 18 helped along by Aras and Emin. 
	19 What do you think is the best way to handle this information and 20 would you be able to speak to Emin about it directly? 
	21 I can also send this info to your father via Rhona, but it is ultra 22 sensitive so wanted to send to you first. 
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 345. 
	17 

	Id. at 346. Emin Agalarov testified that he did what his father had requested because, “When my father asks, I cannot say no.” Id. 
	18 

	Id. Goldstone also said that Aras Agalarov “never” directly tasked him to do things, but that he “would be asked to do things through a ‘chain of command’” through staff or Emin. Id. at n.2213. 
	19 
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	1 Best, 2 Rob 3 Minutes later, Trump Jr. responded: “Thanks Rob I appreciate that.  I am on the road at the 
	Goldstone.
	20 

	4 moment but perhaps I just speak to Emin first.  Seems we have some time and if it’s what you 5 say I love it especially later in the summer.”Trump Jr. testified to the Senate Intelligence 6 Committee that he wanted to speak with Emin first because he had received “a rather 7 sensational email from Rob, who I know to be a rather sensational kind of guy” and as a result, 8 Trump Jr. “didn’t know what to make of it.”In a subsequent interview, Trump Jr. 9 acknowledged that the purpose of following up on Golds
	21 
	22 

	10 opposition research, stating that if “someone has information on our opponent . . . maybe this is 11 something.  I should hear them out.”12 Manafort testified to the Senate Intelligence Committee that, at some point between June 13 3 and June 6, 2016, Trump Jr. told him that foreign nationals with whom he worked for the Miss 14 Universe pageant “had some information that they wanted to share that could be helpful to the 15 campaign.”  At a regularly scheduled “Family Meeting” on June 6, 2016, for senior 
	23 
	24

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump Jr., 6/3/16 10:36am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347; Compl. at 7, MUR 7266 (July 13, 2017). 
	20 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789839522140166

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Trump Jr. to Goldstone, 6/3/16 10:53am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	21 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789839522140166

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 348. 
	22 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 119 (Hannity, Transcript-Donald Trump Jr., FOX NEWS (July 11, 2017) (“Hannity Transcript”)). 
	23 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 348 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said the foreign nationals were from Azerbaijan); see also id. at 348 n.2224 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said they were from Russia “and that they had derogatory information about Hillary Clinton”). 
	24 
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	1 officials and Trump family members, Trump Jr. discussed a “lead” on negative information 2   That same day and again the next day, June 7, 2016, 3 Trump Jr. appears to have had several phone calls with Emin Agalarov; the current information 4 5 On June 7, 2016, Goldstone emailed Trump Jr. again, writing: “Emin asked that I 6 schedule a meeting with you and [t]he Russian government attorney who is flying over from 7 Moscow for this Thursday.”Trump Jr. responded “Great” and said the attendees from the 8 Tru
	about Clinton from foreign nationals.
	25
	we have does not indicate the substance of those phone calls.
	26 
	27 
	28

	10 meeting and Trump Jr. agreed; Trump Jr. forwarded this email, which included the email chain 11 with Goldstone, to Manafort and Kushner with the subject line “FW: Russia — Clinton — 12 private and confidential.”Both Manafort and Kushner received the emails, with Manafort 13 responding Rick Gates, 14 who was then the Deputy Campaign Chairman, told the Special Counsel’s Office that Trump Jr. 
	29 
	“See you then” and Kushner forwarding the message to his assistant.
	30 

	Id. at 349 (indicating that Deputy Campaign Manager Gates recalled Trump Jr. said the foreign nationals were from Kyrgyzstan and that Trump Jr. testified that he did not recall this discussion). 
	25 

	Id. at 350-52. 
	26 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 114 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump Jr., 6/7/16 4:20pm; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 352. 
	27 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413

	Special Counsel’s Report at 114 (citing Email from Trump, Jr. to Goldstone, 6/7/16 6:14pm; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 352. Between the emails sent at 4:20pm and 6:14pm, Trump Jr. and Goldstone sent additional emails to settle on the time and place for the meeting. @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), . 
	28 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 355-56; Special Counsel’s Report at 115 (citing Email from Trump, Jr. to Kushner and Manafort, 6/8/16). 
	29 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 115. 
	30 
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	1 announced the meeting to senior campaign staff, and that Manafort warned it would likely not 2 yield   Manafort told the Senate 3 Intelligence Committee that Trump Jr. would not have invited him to attend “unless Trump Jr. 4 thought the meeting would potentially be important.”5 Veselnitskaya reportedly 6 introduced herself as “a private attorney,” Akhmetshin was introduced as a lobbyist, and 7   Trump Jr. reportedly began the meeting by asking Veselnitskaya, 8 “what brings you here? We hear you have some 
	“vital information” and that they should be careful.
	31
	32 
	The June 9 meeting apparently lasted about 30 minutes.
	33 
	Samochornov as a translator.
	34
	35 

	10 and donated their profits to the Democratic National Committee (the “DNC”) or the Clinton 11   According to several witnesses, Veselnitskaya had previously shown Akhmetshin 12 After Veselnitskaya made her 13 statements, Trump Jr. apparently followed-up by asking whether the alleged payments could be 14 tied to the Clinton campaign, but Veselnitskaya responded that the money could not be traced 
	campaign.
	36
	some documents reflecting this alleged financial misconduct.
	37 

	Id. (Kushner told the Special Counsel’s Office he did not recall whether this happened); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349 (indicating this was in the “Family Meeting”). 
	31 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349. Id. at 370. Goldstone accompanied the Russian delegation to the Trump offices and testified that he had not planned or intended to attend the meeting, but stayed at Trump Jr.’s request so as to more easily accompany the Russians out after the meeting. Id. at 364. 
	32 
	33 

	Id. at 365. Id. at 366. Special Counsel’s Report at 117. 
	34 
	35 
	36 

	Id. 
	37 
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	1 Veselnitskaya and Akhmetshin then discussed U.S. sanctions 2 imposed under the Magnitsky Act and Russia’s response to the law.  Akhmetshin and 3 Kaveladze reported to the Special Counsel that Trump Jr. followed up with specific questions 4 about Clinton;as Trump Jr. himself said in a later press interview, “I was probably pressing 5 [Veselnitskaya] because the pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information about your 6 opponent.’”Indeed, Trump Jr. later testified to the Senate Intelligence Committee
	once it entered the United States.
	38 
	39
	40 
	41 
	42

	10 11 Over a year later, news of the June 9 meeting broke and became the subject of 12   On July 11, 2017, Trump Jr. released a statement on Twitter, 13 writing that he took the meeting based on his relationship with Emin Agalarov and that “[t]he 14 information they suggested they had about Hillary Clinton I thought was Political Opposition 
	assistants with a request that he be telephoned in order to leave the meeting.
	43 
	widespread news reporting.
	44

	Id. at 118; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367 (quoting Akhmetshin’s testimony that Trump Jr. said, “That’s very interesting, but so could you show how money goes to Hillary’s campaign? . . . Could you show us how the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?”). 
	38 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118; Compl. at 3-4, MUR 7265 (citing Jo Becker, Matt Apuzzo and Adam Goldman, Trump’s Son Met With Russian Lawyer After Being Promised Damaging Information on Clinton, N.Y. TIMES, July 9, 2017). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 118. 
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	MUR 7266 Compl. at 9 (quoting Hannity Transcript). 
	41 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370. 
	42 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118-19; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367. 
	43 

	See, e.g., Jo Becker, Matt Apuzzo, Adam Goldman, Trump Team Met with Lawyer Linked to Kremlin During Campaign, N.Y. TIMES, July 8, 2017 (cited in MUR 7266 Complaint at 4); Liam Stack, Donald Trump Jr.’s Two Different Explanations for Russian Meeting, N.Y. TIMES, July 9, 2017 (cited in MUR 7266 Complaint at 5). 
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	1 Research. "In the same tweet, he released his conespondence with Goldstone setting up the 2 meeting, some of which is quoted earlier in this repo1t.The full text ofTmmp Jr.' s statement 3 is as follows: 
	45 
	46 

	To everyone, in order to be totalty transparent, Iam releasing the entire email chain of my emails with Rob Goldstone about the meeting on June 9, 2016. Tlhefirstemc1il on June 3, 2016 was from Rob, who 
	was r,elating a reque-st from Emin, a person I knew from the 2013 Ms. Unlverse Pageant near Moscow. 
	Eminand his father have a very highly respected company in Moscow. The information they suggested tiey had abO\lt Hillary Clinton I tnought was Politiul Oppositio11 Re5-earch, Ifirst wanted to just have a phone c.,II but when that didn't work out, they said the woman would be in New York and asked if I would meet. Idecided to take the meeting. The woman, as she has said publidy, was not a government official. And, as we have said, she had no information to provide and wanted to talk about adoption poli<;y a
	4 
	5 The Complaints allege that Tmmp Jr., as an agent ofthe Tnunp Committee, violated the 
	6 Act by soliciting a contribution from foreign nationals in the course ofsetting up and attending 
	7 this meeting. In addition, the Complaint in MUR 7266 alleges that Kushner and Manafo1t 
	47 

	8 either solicited a prohibited foreign national contribution or substantially assisted in such a 
	9 solicitation,and that Goldstone substantially assisted in a The Trnmp 
	48 
	prohibited solicitation.
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	45 
	@DonaldJTmmpJr, TWITIER (July 11, 2017, 11 :00am), . Prior to Trump Jr. 's release ofhis statement, his counsel, and counsel for the Tmmp Organization spoke with or emailed Goldstone and Kaveladze "to coordinate and draft a public statement." Senate Intelligence Collllllittee Report at 395. The record does not make clear whether Tmmp Jr. 's statement quoted above is that statement. 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTmmpJr/status/884789418455953413

	Sup ra notes 20-21. 
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	Compl. at 6, MUR 7265; Compl. at 12-15, MUR 7266; Compl. at 1-2, (Aug. 8, 2017); Compl. at 8, 10, 15 (July 22, 2019). 
	47 

	Compl. at 15-16, MUR 7266 ("On June 8, 2016, TlUlllp Jr. fo1warded the email chain between himself and 
	48 

	Goldstone to Kushner and Manafort, with the subject line 'FW: Russia -Clinton -private and confidential. ' ... By 
	Kushner and Manafort participating in TlUlllp Jr.'s an-angements to accept the foreign national contribution at an in­
	person meeting at Tmmp campaign headquarters, and by attending the meeting at which they had been told the 
	contribution would be discussed, Kushner and Manafo1t solicited a contribution from a foreign national."). 
	Id. at 16 ("Goldstone, by working to connect Russian nationals with Donald J. Tnunp for President Inc. officials for the pwpose ofeffecting an in-kind contribution, and by providing substantial assistance to Tmmp Jr. in 
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	1 Committee filed a Response that does not dispute any of the foregoing information, but instead 2 argues that the allegations do not constitute a violation of the Act and that the meeting is 3 Kushner also filed a Response to the 4 MUR 7266 Complaint, which likewise does not dispute the factual record, but instead argues that 5 the allegations fail to make out a violation of the Act and that Kushner’s involvement in the 6 meeting was insufficient to constitute either a solicitation or substantial assistanc
	50
	protected political speech under the First Amendment.
	51 
	solicitation.
	52 
	53

	10 Trump Jr. filed Responses to that Supplemental Complaint arguing that the Special Counsel’s 11 Goldstone and Manafort did not submit any 12 responses. 13 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 14 A. The Commission Should Find Reason to Believe That Donald Trump Jr. 
	Report supports dismissal of these matters.
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	15 Impermissibly Solicited a Contribution from Russian Nationals 16 As discussed below, the contemplated free opposition research at issue in these matters 17 constitutes a thing of value and its provision to the Trump Committee, if it had in fact been 
	arranging the meeting at which that contribution was to be discussed and solicited, violated the prohibition on any person knowingly providing substantial assistance in the solicitation or making of a contribution or donation from a foreign national.”) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 5-7, 9-15 (Sept. 14, 2017). 
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	Figure

	Id. at 7-9; see also Trump Committee Resp., (referring to response in MURs 7265, 7266 . 
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	Kushner Resp., MUR 7266 at 4-8 (Sept. 14, 2017). 
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	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7266. The Supplemental Complaint focuses on a legal argument rather than presenting new or updated factual allegations. 
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	Kushner Supp. Resp., MUR 7266 (May 13, 2019); Trump Committee Supp. Resp., MUR 7266 (June 12, 2019); Trump Jr. Resp., MUR 7266 (July 19, 2019). 
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	1 made, would have constituted a contribution under the Act.  Through his communications prior 2 to and during the June 9 meeting, Trump Jr. requested that foreign nationals provide that 3 information to the Trump Committee.  Therefore, the information before the Commission 4 indicates there is reason to believe that that Trump Jr. knowingly solicited a prohibited foreign 5 national contribution by requesting the damaging information on Clinton. 
	6 1. 7 8 9 The Act prohibits foreign nationals from “directly or indirectly” making a contribution or 
	Opposition Research is a Thing of Value and its Provision Without Charge 
	is a Contribution Under the Act 

	10 making “an express or implied promise to make a contribution” in connection with a federal, 11  A “foreign national” includes an individual who is not a citizen of the 12 United States or a national of the United States and who is not lawfully admitted for permanent 13 The Act and Commission regulations also prohibit any person from knowingly 14 To solicit means “to 15 ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, 16 donation, transfer of funds, or otherwi
	state, or local election.
	55
	residence.
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	soliciting, accepting, or receiving a contribution from a foreign national.
	57 
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	20 community that foreign citizens do not have a constitutional right 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A). 
	55 

	Id. § 30121(b)(2). The term “foreign national” also includes “a foreign principal,” which is defined as, among other things, “a government of a foreign country.” Id. § 30121(b)(1) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 611(b)); see also Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 4583 (Devendra Singh and the Embassy of India) (finding reason to believe that the Indian Embassy as well as an embassy official knowingly and willfully violated the Act’s ban on foreign national contributions). 
	56 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g); see also id. § 110.20(a)(4) (definition of knowingly). 
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	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating the definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). 
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	1 to participate in, and thus may be excluded from, activities of 2 democratic self-government.  It follows, therefore, that the United 3 States has a compelling interest for purposes of First Amendment 4 analysis in limiting the participation of foreign citizens in activities 5 of American democratic self-government, and in thereby 6 7 8 The Act defines “contribution” as “any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of 
	preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process.
	59 

	9 money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for 10 Federal office.”  “[A]nything of value includes all in-kind contributions” such as “the provision 11 of any goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual and normal 12 charge.”13 Although goods or services provided by a person — foreign or domestic — at the usual 14 and normal charge do not constitute a contribution under the Act, “soliciting, accepting, or 15 receiving informatio
	60
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	nevertheless banned.
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	800 F. Supp. 2d 281, 288 (D.D.C. 2011), aff’d, 565 U.S. 1104 (2012). 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i). 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1); see Advisory Op. 2007-22 at 5 (Hurysz) (“AO 2007-22”). 
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	62 
	63 
	AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. 69928, 69940 (Nov. 19, 2002) (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, “Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,” Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value by foreign nationals.”) (emphasis added)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Brief at 24, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l 
	AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. 69928, 69940 (Nov. 19, 2002) (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, “Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,” Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value by foreign nationals.”) (emphasis added)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Brief at 24, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l 
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	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
	9 
	9 
	9 
	In other contexts, the Commission has likewise concluded that the provision of certain 

	10 
	10 
	information, including a contact list, research, and descriptions and analysis of poll results, may 

	11 
	11 
	be things of value within the definition of “contribution.”66  For instance, in MUR 5409 

	12 
	12 
	(Norquist, et al.), the Commission concluded that a master contact list of political activists was 

	13 
	13 
	“something of value, meeting the Act’s broad definition of contribution,” given that a 

	14 
	14 
	corporation had “utilized its resources to obtain and compile” the materials; the materials 


	Comm., et al.) (describing the legislative history of the foreign national prohibition which, “unlike other provisions of the Act, has its origins in, and essentially remains, a national security provision with broad application”). 
	66 
	See Factual & Legal Analysis at 13-20, MUR 6414 (Carnahan) (research services); Advisory Op. 1990-12 at 2 (Strub) (“AO 1992-12”) (description and analysis of poll results); First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission opinion) (list of activists provided to a campaign without charge were “of value” because they “may at least point [the campaign] in the direction of persons who might help [its] election efforts”); Cert., MUR 5409 ¶ 2 (Norquist, et al.) (Oct. 20, 2004
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	1 
	1 
	contained “information that may [have been] of value in connection with the [] election”; and it 

	2 
	2 
	appeared the materials were not “readily or publicly available.”67 

	3 
	3 
	The current record in these matters, as set forth in the Special Counsel’s Report and 

	4 
	4 
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report as well as Trump Jr.’s own statement and release of 

	5 
	5 
	relevant email messages, indicates that the derogatory Clinton information that was offered by 

	6 
	6 
	the Agalarovs in Goldstone’s initial email and sought by Trump Jr. is a thing of value under the 

	7 
	7 
	Act.  When Goldstone first reached out to Trump Jr. on June 3, Goldstone explicitly referred to 

	8 
	8 
	“official documents and information that would incriminate Hillary and her dealings with 

	9 
	9 
	Russia” that would be shared at the meeting as “part of Russia and its government’s support for 


	10 Mr. Trump.”
	68 

	Figure
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	Figure
	First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission opinion) (internal quotation marks omitted); Cert. ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (Oct. 20, 2004). The Commission found reason to believe that the respondents in MUR 5409 violated the prohibition on corporate contributions but took no further action because the value of the materials at issue appeared to be limited. First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10-11, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.); Cert. ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump, Jr., 6/3/16 10:36am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	The record in 1 the instant matters indicates that the offered and sought material would have required similar 2 
	3 In characterizing the information as “official” and coming from the 4 Russian “Crown prosecutor” as part of part of “Russia and its government’s support for Mr. 5 Trump,”  Goldstone indicated that the Agalarovs were offering information obtained or 
	utilization of resources.
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	compiled by compensated personnel from the Russian government 
	Figure
	7 
	8 Further, the information offered and sought in these matters was not “readily or publicly 
	9 available,” which was a critical factor the Commission considered in MUR 5409 (Norquist) 10   Goldstone conveyed 11 in his initial email, under the subject “Russia — Clinton — private and confidential,” that the 12 documents and information being offered were “ultra sensitive,” conveying that, like the 13 information in MUR 5409, the proffered derogative information about Clinton was not readily or 14 15 The Response from the Trump Committee characterizes the offer and seeking of the 16 damaging informati
	when concluding that a compilation of materials was something of value.
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	publicly available.
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	Figure
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	See Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347 (quoting Goldstone’s email that damaging information was “part of Russia and its government’s support for Mr. Trump”). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	74 
	First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist) (adopted as dispositive). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	1 cannot be a “thing of value”Similarly, 2 Kushner’s Response argues that information exchanged or sought to be exchanged can constitute 3 a “thing of value” or “contribution” only when offered by a commercial vendor or having “actual 4 monetary value.”The Trump Committee Response relies on a Statement of Reasons from 5 three Commissioners in MUR 6958 (McCaskill, et al.), in which those Commissioners explained 6 that they voted against pursuing a matter in which one committee shared high-level poll results 
	 because its value cannot be appraised monetarily.
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	with another committee at no charge.
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	10 phrase is used 11 C.F.R. § 106.4;those Commissioners further reasoned on prudential grounds 11 that if the conversation constituted the acceptance of opinion poll results, the Commission should 12 decline to expend further resources in the matter due to the difficulty and uncertainty in 13 determining whether the value of the information conveyed would exceed the contribution 14   Those considerations would not apply in these matters because, while MUR 6958 15 involved a question of whether domestic resp
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	limitation.
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	prohibition the Commission has publicly prioritized as a focus.
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	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 9-12; Supp. Resp., MUR 7266 at 2. Kushner Resp., MUR 7266 at 4-5 (citing Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 6414 (Carnahan)). Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 10 (citing Statement of Reasons of Caroline C. 
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	Hunter, Lee E. Goodman, and Matthew S. Peterson, MUR 6958 (McCaskill, et al.)). 
	Statement of Reasons of Caroline C. Hunter, Lee E. Goodman, and Matthew S. Peterson at 6, MUR 6958 (McCaskill, et al.). Id. at 7-8. See Ltr. to House Comm. on Appropriations and Senate Comm. on Appropriations, Fed. Election Comm’n 
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	1 
	1 
	recognized that even contributions from foreign nationals that “may be nominal or difficult to 

	2 
	2 
	ascertain” are nevertheless still prohibited.82 Moreover, as the Trump Committee recognizes in 

	3 
	3 
	its Response, these matters do not concern a conversation about opinion poll results, as that 

	4 
	4 
	phrase is used in 11 C.F.R. § 106.4 and was analyzed in the Statement of Reasons in MUR 6958, 

	5 
	5 
	but the broader definition of “contribution.”83 

	6 
	6 
	Although the Trump Committee characterizes the June 9 meeting as a conversation with 

	7 
	7 
	“no ascertainable commercial value,”84 Trump Jr. himself publicly stated that the “pretext of the 

	8 
	8 
	meeting” was the provision of “information about your opponent”85 and further characterized the 

	9 
	9 
	information he expected to receive as “Political Opposition Research,”86 the provision of which 


	the Commission has recognized is a service that campaigns pay for.8710 11 12 
	including how it identifies foreign contributions to elections, and what it plans to do in the future” as required by Explanatory Statement for 2018 Appropriations Act); Explanatory Statement to Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018, 164 Cong. Rec. at H2520. 
	AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. at 69940 (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, “Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,” Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value by foreign nationals.”) (emphasis added)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Brief at 24, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l Comm., et al.) (describing the legislative history of the foreign national prohibition which, “un
	82 
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	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, 
	at 10. 

	84 
	84 
	Id. at 11-12. 

	85 
	85 
	Compl. at 9, MUR 7266 (quoting Hannity Transcript). 

	86 
	86 
	@DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00a m.) (giving his statement on the Trump Tower 


	meeting in connection with his public release of his email correspondence with Goldstone). 
	87 
	In another matter, the Commission found that free opposition research provided by a domestic firm could be a thing of value, but dismissed the matter because of the small amount in violation. Factual & Legal Analysis at 16-19, MUR 6414 (Russ Carnahan in Congress Committee, et al.). 
	Figure

	MURs 7265 / 7266 (Donald J. Trump for President, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 21 of 37 
	1 
	The 2 
	3 difficulty in ascribing a monetary value to the research is not a bar to enforcement, as the 4 Commission has made clear that even contributions whose value “may be nominal or difficult to 5 ascertain” are Likewise, the Commission has found that indicia of paid personnel 6 resources can support a pre-investigatory finding of reason to believe that information is a thing 7 of value under the Act.8 There does not appear to be any question that the research at issue was being offered for 9 less than its usua
	prohibited.
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	10 of Russia and its government’s support for Mr. Trump — helped along by Aras and Emin.”11 The Response does not argue that this was a standard business transaction, and the 12 communications leading up to the meeting made no suggestion of a commercial transaction.  13 There is likewise no indication in any of the investigative reports that Trump Jr. or the Trump 14 Committee intended to pay for the opposition research.  Thus, it appears that Trump Jr. was 15 seeking something of value without charge rathe
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	AO 2007-22 at 6. 
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	First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 8 n.12, MUR 5409 (“It is difficult to ascertain a market value for unique goods such as the materials [Respondent] provided to the Committee. The lack of a market, and thus the lack of a “usual and normal charge,” however, does not necessarily equate to a lack of value.” (emphasis added)). 
	Figure

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	1 freely given to candidates and committees that to consider them all contributions would be 2   This point is overstated, however, because the Commission’s precedent does not 3 identify all forms of information as “contributions.”  Information that is a thing of value is a 4 contribution only when a gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of it is made “for the 5 purpose of influencing an election.”6 Whether a purported “contribution” is made for the purpose of influencing a federal 7 election may be
	absurd.
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	or inferred from the surrounding circumstances.
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	10 information “that could be helpful to the campaign.” Goldstone not only told Trump Jr. that the 11 research was intended to help the Trump campaign, but also specifically stated that the 12 information would “incriminate” Trump’s opponent and “be very useful to your father.”The 13 overall record in these matters suggests that the proposed provision of “official documents and 
	95
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	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 2-4, 9-12. 
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	52 U.S.C. 30101(8)(A)(i). 
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	See, e.g., Advisory Op. 2000-08 (Harvey) at 1, 3 (“AO 2000-08”) (concluding private individual’s $10,000 “gift” to federal candidate would be a contribution because “the proposed gift would not be made but for the recipient’s status as a Federal candidate”); Advisory Op. 1988-22 (San Joaquin Valley Republican Associates) at 5 (concluding third party newspaper publishing comments regarding federal candidates, coordinated with those candidates or their agents, thereby made contributions “for the purpose of in
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347; see also id. at 348 n.2224 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said they were from Russia “and that they had derogatory information about Hillary Clinton”).. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	1 information” would not have been offered or sought but for Trump’s status as a federal candidate 2 3 Because the opposition research was a thing of value, offered at no cost, and for the 4 purpose of influencing an election, if provided it would have been a contribution under the Act. 
	and the desire to obtain an electoral advantage.
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	5 2. 6 7 8 The available information similarly indicates that Trump Jr.’s efforts to obtain 
	Trump Jr. Knowingly Solicited the Opposition Research From Foreign 
	Nationals 

	9 information from individuals he knew to be Russian nationals constituted a solicitation of a 
	10 contribution.  Commission regulations define “solicit” to mean “ask, request, or recommend, 
	11 explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 
	12 otherwise provide anything of value.”
	98 

	13 A solicitation is an oral or written communication that, construed 14 as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, 15 contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that 16 another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 17 otherwise provide anything of value.  A solicitation may be made 18 directly or indirectly.  The context includes the conduct of persons 19 
	involved in the communication.
	99 

	20 Commission regulations include examples of statements that would constitute solicitations, 
	21 including but not limited to:  “I will not forget those who contribute at this crucial stage”;
	100 

	22 “[t]he candidate will be very pleased if we can count on you for $10,000”; and “[y]our 
	101

	23 contribution to this campaign would mean a great deal to the entire party and to me 
	See AO 2000-08 (Harvey) at 1, 3 (concluding gift would be a contribution because it “would not be made but for the recipient’s status as a Federal candidate”). 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). Id. § 300.2(m). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xi). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xii). 
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	1 personally.”The Commission has also identified certain communications that qualify as 2 “solicitations,” such as “providing a separate card, envelope, or reply device that contains an 3 address to which funds may be sent.”4 Considering the overall context, Trump Jr.’s communications both leading up to the June 5 9 meeting and in the meeting itself contained a clear message requesting the damaging 6 information on Clinton that Goldstone offered to provide on behalf of the Agalarovs or the 7 Russian governm
	102 
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	104 
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	10 following up on Goldstone’s message was to obtain the opposition research, stating that if 11 “someone has information on our opponent . . . maybe this is something.  I should hear them 12 out.”13 Critically, witnesses who were present at the June 9 meeting testified before a grand jury 14 as part of the Special Counsel’s investigation and the Senate Intelligence Committee that Trump 15 Jr. asked at the meeting about the damaging information about Clinton.Akhmetshin testified 16 to the Senate Intelligenc
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	Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xiii). See id. § 300.2(m)(1) (listing examples). Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)(2)(xii). Special Counsel’s Report at 119 (citing Hannity Transcript). Special Counsel’s Report at 118 (citing testimony of Akhmetshin for his testimony that Trump Jr. asked 
	102 
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	104 
	105 
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	how specific payments could be tied to the Clinton campaign and Kaveladze for his testimony that Trump Jr. asked what the Russians had on Clinton); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349. 
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	1 the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?”  And Trump Jr. himself publicly acknowledged in a 2 media interview that “I was probably pressing [Veselnitskaya for information] because the 3 pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information about your opponent.’”When 4 considered in the context that the stated purpose of the June 9 meeting was to obtain the 5 information promised by the Agalarovs, Trump Jr.’s communications — including, in his own 6 words, “pressing” Veselnitskaya for “‘information about [Dona
	108
	109 

	10 constitute an improper solicitation of a prohibited contribution under the Act.
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	11 3. 12 13 14 The Trump Committee’s Response does not seriously dispute that Trump Jr. requested 
	The Response’s First Amendment Argument Does Not Negate the 
	Prohibited Solicitation 

	15 damaging information on Clinton from the Russian nationals.Instead, the Trump Committee 16 observes that “general expressions of political support are not a contribution that can be 17 solicited.”  The Response does not identify any such expressions of political support sought by 18 Trump Jr., but argues that the meeting between Trump Jr. and the Russian nationals was political 
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	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367. 
	108 

	Compl. at 9, MUR 7266 (quoting Hannity Transcript); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370 (quoting Trump Jr. that the “meeting really wasn’t about anything that [Goldstone] said it was going to be about.”) 
	109 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2). 
	110 

	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 14 (arguing that “as we have established, nothing of value was provided and therefore nothing could have been solicited as the term ‘to solicit’ is defined in the Act and regulations.”). 
	111 
	Figure

	Id.; see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). 
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	1 
	1 
	issue speech — like an endorsement or an editorial in which a candidate’s voting record is 

	2 
	2 
	criticized — and therefore is protected by the First Amendment and cannot be a contribution or 

	3 
	3 
	solicitation.113  However, in its Explanation and Justification of the revised definition of “solicit” 

	4 
	4 
	at section 300.2(m), the Commission provided examples of “mere statements of political support 

	5 
	5 
	. . . such as a request to vote for, or volunteer on behalf of, a candidate.”114  As discussed above 

	6 
	6 
	and contrary to the Response’s generalized First Amendment argument, Trump Jr.’s 

	7 
	7 
	communications with the Russian nationals were not limited to seeking political advice or 

	8 
	8 
	general support, such as an endorsement, but rather included clear messages that, in context, 

	9 
	9 
	asked the Russian nationals to provide something of value to the campaign.115  To the contrary, 

	10 
	10 
	Trump Jr. testified to the Senate Intelligence Committee that the Russians’ lobbying “about some 

	11 
	11 
	sort of policy” in the June 9 meeting “really wasn’t about anything that [Goldstone] said [the 

	12 
	12 
	meeting] was going to be about.”116 


	13 14 15 16 
	Figure
	Id. at 8 (arguing that “American citizens unquestionably have a First Amendment right to ‘receive information and ideas’ from foreign nationals. It follows that the First Amendment protects the right of American citizens to talk to anyone, foreign nationals included, about the fitness of a political candidate for office.”) (italics omitted) (quoting Kleindeinst v. Mandel, 408 U.S. 753, 762 (1972)). 
	113 

	114 
	Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13926, 13928 (Mar. 20, 2006) (explaining that “solicit” may also exclude “a candidate’s request for electoral or legislative support” unaccompanied by a “clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person provide funds or something of value.”). 
	115 
	See, e.g., Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367 (“show us how the money goes to Hillary’s campaign”); Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (“I love it”). 
	116 
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370; see also Hannity Transcript (Trump Jr. explaining, “the pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information about your opponent.’”). 
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	1 
	1 

	2 
	2 

	3 
	3 
	4. The Department of Justice’s Decision Not to Prosecute Does Not Preclude 

	4 
	4 
	Civil Enforcement 

	5 
	5 
	The Trump Committee, Kushner, and Trump Jr. argue that the Special Counsel’s Report 

	6 
	6 
	confirms that no violation of the Act occurred in connection with the June 9 meeting.118 

	7 
	7 
	However, the Special Counsel’s Report does not reach that conclusion.  Instead, the Report 

	8 
	8 
	explains: 

	9 
	9 
	There are reasonable arguments that the offered information would 

	10 
	10 
	constitute a “thing of value” within the meaning of [the Act], but the 

	11 
	11 
	[Special Counsel’s] Office determined that the government would not be 

	12 
	12 
	likely to obtain and sustain a conviction for two other reasons: first, the 

	13 
	13 
	[Special Counsel’s] Office did not obtain admissible evidence likely to 

	14 
	14 
	meet the government’s burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

	15 
	15 
	these individuals acted “willfully,” i.e., with general knowledge of the 

	16 
	16 
	illegality of their conduct; and, second, the government would likely 

	17 
	17 
	encounter difficulty in proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the value of 

	18 19 
	18 19 
	the promised information exceeded the threshold for a criminal violation [$25,000 for felony punishment].119 

	20 
	20 
	In fact, when the Special Counsel’s Office examined Commission precedent regarding “thing of 

	21 
	21 
	value,” that Office came to the legal conclusion that “[t]hese authorities would support the view 

	22 
	22 
	that candidate-related opposition research given to a campaign for the purpose of influencing an 

	23 
	23 
	election could constitute a contribution to which the foreign-source ban could apply.”120 


	Figure
	118 
	Trump Committee Supp. Resp , MUR 7266 at 1; Trump Jr. Resp., MUR 7266 at 1; Kushner Supp. Resp., MUR 7266 at 2. 
	119 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 186. 
	120 
	Id. at 187. 
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	1 The Special Counsel’s decision not to prosecute anyone in connection with the June 9 2 meeting, as explained above, was based on considerations that are materially distinct from the 3 Commission’s consideration of these matters in an administrative and civil context.  While a 4 criminal prosecution for a violation of the Act would need to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 5 that the violation was knowing and willful, the Commission in a civil proceeding would only 6 have to establish a violation of the Act 
	121 
	122 

	10 willful basis to ensure that the interests of the Act were served.Moreover, for the 
	123 

	11 Commission to find reason to believe in these administrative proceedings at this stage, the 
	12 information before the Commission need only raise a reasonable inference, i.e., credibly allege, 
	13 that a violation occurred.
	124 

	See Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 387 (1983) (“In a typical civil suit for money damages, plaintiffs must prove their case by a preponderance of the evidence.”). 
	121 

	See FEC v. Novacek, 739 F. Supp. 2d 957, 966 (N.D. Tx. 2010) (finding that Commission need not establish intent where Commission seeks civil penalties on a non-knowing and willful basis); see also FEC v. Malenick2004) (holding that a “knowing” violation of the Act “as opposed to a ‘knowing and willful’ one, does not require knowledge that one is violating the law, but merely requires an intent to act.”) (quoting FEC v. John A. Dramesi for Congress Comm., 640 F. Supp. 985, 987 (D.N.J.1986)), rev’d on motion 
	122 
	, 301 F.Supp.2d 230, 237 n.9 (D.D.C. 

	See Conciliation Agreement, MUR 7221 (James Laurita, Jr.) (respondent admitted to non-knowing and willful violations of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30122 after his criminal trial ended in a hung jury); Conciliation Agreement, MUR 5818 (Fieger, Fieger, Kenney, Johnson & Giroux, P.C.) (corporate respondent entered into conciliation agreement on non-knowing and willful basis for violations of sections 30118 and 30122 after criminal trial of individual defendants resulted in acquittal). 
	123 

	See Statement of Policy Regarding Commission Action in Matters at the Initial Stage in the Enforcement Process, 72 Fed. Reg. 12545, 12545 (Mar. 16, 2007) (explaining also that “reason to believe” findings “indicate only that the Commission found sufficient legal justification to open an investigation to determine whether a violation of the Act has occurred.”). 
	124 
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	1 With regard to valuation, the Special Counsel’s Office noted that the $25,000 value of the 2 opposition research necessary to establish a felony criminal charge would be difficult to 3 determine in part because no actual valuable information was provided.  This difficulty in 4 valuing the information would not be a barrier to Commission action, as even contributions that 5 are “nominal” or “difficult to ascertain” would still be prohibited in the civil context, and the Act 6 provides for statutory penalti
	125
	126
	127 

	10 * * * 11 Because the available information indicates that Trump Jr. solicited a contribution from a 12 foreign national without charge for the purpose of influencing a federal election, we recommend 13 that the Commission find reason to believe that Trump Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 14 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national. 15 B. Because Trump Jr. Acted as an Agent of the Trump Committee, the 
	16 Commission Should Find Reason to Believe That the Trump Committee Also 17 Impermissibly Solicited a Contribution from Russian Nationals 18 In the soft money context, Commission regulations define “agent” as “any person who 19 has actual authority, either express or implied, . . . [t]o solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 188. 
	125 

	AO 2007-22 at 6; cf. MUR 7048 (Cruz) (conciliating statutory penalty for soft money solicitation violation). 
	126 

	See Bluman, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 288 (recognizing that “the United States has a compelling interest . . . in limiting the participation of foreign citizens in activities of American democratic self-government, and in thereby preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process”). 
	127 
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	1 funds in connection with any election.”Actual authority is created by manifestations of 2 consent, express or implied, by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the 3 principal’s behalf.In its revised Explanation and Justification for the definition of “agent” at 4 section 300.2(b), the Commission stated that “the candidate/principal may also be liable for any 5 impermissible solicitations by the agent, despite specific instructions not to do so.”The 6 Commission has explained th
	128 
	129 
	130 
	131 

	10 agency principles to individuals beyond official campaign members and includes “volunteers” in 11 its definition of an agent.12 There is a reasonable basis to infer that Trump Jr. was an agent of the Trump Committee 13 with actual authority to solicit a contribution from the Russian nationals by arranging and 14 participating in the June 9 meeting.  The Special Counsel’s and Senate Intelligence Committee’s 15 Reports indicate, through the information assembled in the course of their investigations, that 
	132 

	11 C.F.R. The definition set forth in the soft money rules may have some salience here because the Commission cross-references the definition of “solicit” at section 300.2(m) of the soft money rules in defining that term for purposes of the foreign national prohibition. See 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6). 
	128 
	§ 300.2(b)(3); Restatement (Third) of Agency 3d §§ 2.01-2.02 (2006). 

	Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4975-76; Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	129 

	Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4978 (citing United States v. Investment Enterprises, Inc., 10 F.3d 263, 266 (5th Cir. 1993) (determining that it is a settled matter of agency law that liability exists “for unlawful acts of [] agents, provided that the conduct is within the scope of the agent’s authority”)); Factual & Legal Analysis at 5, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (same). 
	130 

	Prohibited and Excessive Contributions: Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money, 67 Fed. Reg. 49064, 49082 (July 29, 2002) (Explanation and Justification). 
	131 

	Agency E&J at 4977; see also Factual & Legal Analysis at 4-6, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (concluding volunteer fundraiser was an agent of candidate’s campaign committee, which became liable for volunteer’s improper solicitation). 
	132 
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	1 Trump Jr. announced the upcoming meeting to “senior campaign staff and Trump family 2 members.”Deputy Campaign Chairman Gates specifically recalled that Trump Jr. discussed 3 a “lead” on procuring negative information about Clinton from foreign nationals at that “Family 4 Meeting.”  Moreover, two senior staff attended the meeting at Trump Jr.’s request, including 5 the Campaign Chairman who testified that Trump Jr. specifically told him that foreign nationals 6 “had some information that they wanted to sh
	133 
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	10 supports a conclusion that Trump Jr. acted as an agent of the Trump Committee when he 11 knowingly solicited a contribution from foreign nationals, we recommend the Commission find 12 reason to believe that the Trump Committee, through its agent, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) 13 and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national. 14 C. The Commission Should Take No Action at this Time Regarding the 
	15 Allegation that Rob Goldstone Substantially Assisted in the Solicitation and 16 Generate Aras Agalarov and Emin Agalarov as Respondents 17 As set forth above, Goldstone, at the Agalarovs’ request, set up the meeting between the 18 Trump campaign and the Russian delegation.  Commission regulations provide that “[n]o person 19 shall knowingly provide substantial assistance in the solicitation . . . of a contribution or 20 donation” by a foreign national.Because his efforts were necessary to arranging the m
	136 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 115 (citing to the testimony of Rick Gates, the deputy campaign chairman); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349 (describing the “Family Meeting”). Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349. Id. at 348-49. 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(h)(1). 
	133 
	134 
	135 
	136 
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	1 it appears likely that Goldstone violated 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(h) by substantially assisting in the 2 solicitation of a foreign national contribution. 3 The unique circumstances of these matters, however, counsel against taking further 4 action regarding Goldstone at this time.  Goldstone appears to have been acting entirely at the 5 direction of his principals, Aras and Emin Agalarov, who are not currently respondents in these 6 matters.  Goldstone, who is an agent in the entertainment industry and appears
	137
	-

	10 between for Trump Jr. and Emin Agalarov.11 Consequently, before making a definitive recommendation as to Goldstone, we 12 recommend generating Emin Agalarov and Aras Agalarov as respondents in these matters 13 because they were the individuals who apparently instructed Goldstone to send the offer of 14 opposition research to the Trump Committee.  The Act prohibits foreign nationals from making 15 “an express or implied promise to make a contribution.”The text of the email from Goldstone 16 to Trump Jr. s
	138 
	139 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 345-46. 
	137 

	Goldstone noted on several occasions that he was acting on Emin’s behalf. See, e.g., Special Counsel’s Report at 114 (“Emin asked that I schedule a meeting with you and [t]he Russian government attorney. . . .”). Similarly, Goldstone did not plan to attend the June 9 meeting, and stayed only at the request of Trump Jr. at the meeting itself. Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 364. 
	138 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A). 
	139 
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	1 originated from the “Crown prosecutor of Russia” would be “helped along by Aras and 2 Emin.”  Thus, it appears that the Agalarovs, through their agent Goldstone, may have made a 3 promise to make a prohibited foreign national contribution to the Trump Committee in violation 4 of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A). Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission generate Aras 5 and Emin Agalarov as Respondents in these matters.  Further, we recommend that the 6 Commission take no action at this time as to Goldstone,
	140
	141
	142

	10 D. The Commission Should Take No Action at this Time Regarding the 11 Allegations that Jared Kushner and Paul Manafort Solicited a Contribution 12 from a Foreign National 
	13 The Complaint in MUR 7266 alleges that Kushner and Manafort solicited a foreign 14 national contribution or provided substantial assistance in soliciting such a contribution by 15 participating in the June 9th meeting.  There is no dispute that Kushner and Manafort attended 16 that meeting.  They also acknowledged receipt of the email chain from Trump Jr. with the 17 subject line “FW: Russia — Clinton — private and confidential,” and the Deputy Campaign 
	143

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (quoting email from Goldstone to Trump Jr.). 
	140 

	The statute of limitations for any violation stemming from this communication would appear to run on June 3, 2021. Given that the factual record has largely been established by the Special Counsel’s Office and the Senate Intelligence Committee, a lengthy investigation is not necessary. If the Commission were to notify the Agalarovs in February 2021, the Commission would have time to find reason to believe as to the respondents and enter into preprobable cause conciliation. 
	141 
	-

	See, e.g., MUR 7048 (Cruz) (conciliating pre-probable cause with Committee for agent’s solicitation but not agent); First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 14, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President, et al.) (recommending that the Commission take no action with regard to one respondent pending conciliation with a different respondent). 
	142 

	Compl. at 15-16, MUR 7266. 
	143 
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	1 Chairman stated that the meeting was discussed at a senior campaign staff meeting 2 beforehand.3 The available information, however, does not currently support a reason-to-believe 4 finding that Manafort or Kushner solicited a contribution in these matters as defined by 11 5 C.F.R. § 300.2(m).  This regulation requires that a solicitation include “an oral or written 6 communication” made “directly or indirectly,” and the current record does not indicate that 7 either Kushner or Manafort made any such comm
	144 
	145

	10 asking “what are we doing here?”11 We also lack sufficient information regarding whether Kushner and Manafort 12 substantially assisted in the solicitation of a contribution in the form of valuable information 13 from the Russian nationals, as alleged.  According to the Special Counsel’s Report, Trump Jr. 14 informed Manafort and Kushner about and invited them to the June 9th meeting, and Manafort 15 understood the invitation from Trump Jr. to mean that the meeting must be important.  But no 16 informati
	146 
	147

	Special Counsel’s Report at 115. 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). Special Counsel’s Report at 118 (citing Kaveladze 11/16/17 302, at 8); Senate Intelligence Committee 
	144 
	145 
	146 

	Report at 367. Compl. at 15-16, MUR 7266. 
	147 
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	1 June 9 meeting.  For example, on June 8, 2016, the day after Goldstone emailed Trump Jr. about 2 scheduling the upcoming meeting, Kushner emailed his assistant asking her to discuss the June 3 9th meeting with Trump Jr.It is unclear how Kushner first learned about the meeting because 4 Trump Jr. forwarded his emails with Goldstone to Manafort and Kushner later that day.5 In his unsworn response, Kushner states that he “had nothing to do with setting up the 6 meeting,” was not “a party to any communication
	148 
	149 
	150 

	10 Given the limited information we have as to Kushner and Manafort’s roles in the June 9 11 meeting, we recommend that the Commission take no action at this time with respect to them. 12 Because we are recommending that the Commission find reason to believe that the Trump 13 Committee and Trump Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2), it is possible that additional 14 information regarding Kushner and Manafort’s participation in the June 9 meeting may surface 15 during the conciliation proposed below or in re
	151

	Special Counsel’s Report at 114-15. 
	148 

	Id. at 115. 
	149 

	Kushner Resp. at 6-8, MUR 7266 (citing First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 7, MUR 6962 (Hillary for America, et al.) for the proposition that assistance is “substantial” only when the contribution would not be made “but for” the assistance). 
	150 

	See, e.g., First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 5, MUR 7568 (Alpha Marine Services Holdings, LLC, et al.) (open matter) (recommending that the Commission take no action with regard to one respondent pending conciliation with a different respondent); First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 14, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President, et al.) (same). 
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	12 V. RECOMMENDATIONS 
	12 V. RECOMMENDATIONS 
	13 
	13 
	13 
	1. Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President and Bradley T. Crate in 14 his official capacity as treasurer, and Donald J. Trump Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. 15 § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution 16 from a foreign national; 

	17 
	17 
	2. Take no action at this time with regard to the allegation that Rob Goldstone 18 violated 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(h) by substantially assisting the solicitation of a 19 contribution from a foreign national; 

	20 
	20 
	3. Generate Aras Agalarov and Emin Agalarov as respondents in these matters; 

	21 
	21 
	4. Take no action at this time regarding the allegations that Jared Kushner and Paul 22 Manafort violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g), (h) by 23 knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national or substantially 24 assisting in the solicitation of a contribution from a foreign national; 

	25 
	25 
	5. Approve the attached Factual and Legal Analyses; 
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	1 
	1 
	1 
	6. Authorize pre-probable cause conciliation with Donald J. Trump for President and 2 Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, and Donald J. Trump Jr. 3 prior to a finding of probable cause to believe; 

	4 
	4 
	7. Approve the attached proposed conciliation agreements; and 

	5 
	5 
	8. Approve the appropriate letters. 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

	2 
	2 

	3 
	3 
	FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

	4 
	4 

	5 
	5 

	6 
	6 

	7 
	7 
	RESPONDENT:    Donald Trump, Jr. MUR 7265, 7266 

	8 
	8 

	9 
	9 
	I. INTRODUCTION 

	10 
	10 
	The Complaints in these matters allege that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., and 

	11 
	11 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), the authorized 

	12 
	12 
	committee of 2016 presidential candidate Donald J. Trump, as well as several representatives of 

	13 
	13 
	the Trump Committee, solicited a prohibited foreign national contribution by seeking damaging 

	14 
	14 
	information on Trump’s general election opponent, Hillary R. Clinton, from Russian nationals in 

	15 
	15 
	violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).  Specifically, 

	16 
	16 
	these Complaints concern a meeting held on June 9, 2016 (the “June 9 meeting”) organized by 

	17 
	17 
	Trump’s son and senior campaign advisor, Donald Trump Jr., that occurred at Trump Tower in 

	18 
	18 
	New York City. 

	19 
	19 
	Based on the available information, it appears that Trump Jr. solicited opposition research 

	20 
	20 
	on candidate Trump’s opponent from individuals he knew to be Russian nationals.  In these 

	21 
	21 
	circumstances, the damaging information solicited by Trump Jr. constitutes a thing of value 

	22 
	22 
	under Commission precedent.  Accordingly, the Commission finds reason to believe that Donald 

	23 
	23 
	Trump Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign 

	24 
	24 
	national. 
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	1 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	2 The allegations in these matters concern the June 9 meeting at Trump Tower, a subject of 
	3 investigation by other investigative bodies, including both the Office of the Special Counsel and 
	1

	4 the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence.  The June 9 meeting participants were Trump Jr., 
	2

	5 Campaign Chairman Manafort, senior campaign advisor Kushner, a contingent of Russian 
	6 nationals led by former Russian prosecutor Natalia Veselnitskaya including lobbyist Rinat 
	7 Akhmetshin, Irakli “Ike” Kaveladze, and Anatoli Samochornov, and, finally, Rob Goldstone, 
	8 who worked for Emin Agalarov.
	3 

	9 The background to this meeting began several years prior to the 2016 election, with the 
	10 introduction of the Trump family to the Agalarov family.  According to the Special Counsel’s 
	11 Report, “Aras Agalarov is a Russian real-estate developer with ties to [Russian President 
	12 Vladimir] Putin and other members of the Russian government.”  In 2013, through their 
	4

	SPECIAL COUNSEL ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, REPORT ON THE INVESTIGATION INTO RUSSIAN INTERFERENCE IN THE 2016 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION, Vol. 1 at 110-123 (Mar. 22, 2019) (“Special Counsel’s Report”); see also Supp. Compl., MUR 7266 (Apr. 30, 2019) (updating allegations with findings from the Special Counsel’s Report). 
	1 

	U.S. SENATE SELECT COMM. ON INTELLIGENCE, RUSSIAN ACTIVE MEASURES CAMPAIGNS AND INTERFERENCE IN THE 2016 U.S. ELECTION, VOLUME 5: COUNTERINTELLIGENCE, THREATS AND VULNERABILITIES at 345-395 (Aug. 18, 2020) (“Senate Intelligence Committee Report”). The Senate Intelligence Committee explained that its “investigation focused on the counterintelligence threat posed by the Russian intelligence services” while the Special Counsel focused on criminal activity. Id. at 4. 
	2 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 6, 111, 117 (describing Goldstone as a publicist to Emin Agalarov); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 322, 364; see also Compl. at 2-4, MUR 7265 (July 10, 2017) (alleging same); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 270 (describing Goldstone as Emin’s “aide” and promoter). Goldstone appears to be a British national. See, e.g., Rosalind S. Helderman, How a British Music Publicist Ended up in the Middle of the Russia Storm, WASH. POST music-publicist-ended-up-in-the-middle-
	3 
	(Sept. 22, 2018), https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/how-a-british
	-

	-

	Special Counsel’s Report at 110; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 261 (detailing Aras Agalarov’s construction and real estate businesses, connections to Putin, and associations with Russian organized crime). 
	4 
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	1 respective organizations, the Crocus Group and the Trump Organization, Aras Agalarov worked 
	2 with Donald Trump in connection with the Miss Universe pageant held in Moscow.  Shortly 
	5

	3 thereafter, Agalarov’s firm, the Crocus Group, and the Trump Organization entered into 
	4 discussions regarding a potential Trump Moscow real-estate project.The Special Counsel’s 
	6 

	5 Report states that Trump Jr. served as “the primary negotiator for the Trump Organization,” 
	6 while Emin Agalarov, Agalarov’s son, and Ike Kaveladze “represented the Crocus Group during 
	7 negotiations.”  Emin Agalarov and Trump Jr. signed “preliminary terms of an agreement for the 
	7

	8 Trump Tower Moscow project” in December 2013 and negotiated a letter of intent in early 2014, 
	9 but the project never “developed past” the planning stage; the last apparent communication 
	10 between the two groups about the project occurred in late November 2014.
	8 

	11 Despite the failed real estate deal, the Agalarovs and the Trumps remained on friendly 
	12 terms.  For instance, on June 16, 2015, the day Trump announced his candidacy, Goldstone 
	9

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67 n.291; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 259; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 271, 275-79 (detailing Miss Universe planning emails between Trump Organization employees and Goldstone, for the Agalarovs). 
	5 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67-68 (“From January 2014 through November 2014, the Trump Organization and Crocus Group discussed development plans for the Moscow project.”); id. at 110-11 (describing how Agalarov, as president of the Crocus Group, “worked with Trump in connection with the 2013 Miss Universe pageant in Moscow and a potential Trump Moscow real-estate project”). 
	6 

	Id. at 67; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 267 (stating that Emin Agalarov is “Executive Vice President of Crocus group”); id. at 301 (citing November 19, 2013, email from Trump Jr. to Emin Agalarov introducing himself “for the first time” and expressing interest in Trump Tower Moscow project). 
	7 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67-68; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 307-09 (describing several meetings from winter to spring 2014, including meetings between Trump Jr., Emin Agalarov, and Goldstone in January 2014 in New York City and in Doral, Florida in March 2014, but concluding that discussions “slowed” by late summer to fall 2014). 
	8 

	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 310-11, n.2027 (describing several meetings between Trump, Emin Agalarov, and Goldstone at Trump Tower in early 2015 that Goldstone described, in testimony to the Senate Committee, as “personal” and about which Emin Agalarov reportedly said “We kind of hang out”). Goldstone and Emin Agalarov both testified to the Senate committee that, in a meeting at Trump Tower in May 2015, Trump discussed running for president. Id. at 311. 
	9 
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	1   On 
	emailed Trump Jr. asking him to pass on his and Emin Agalarov’s congratulations.
	10

	2 February 29, 2016, Aras Agalarov reportedly sent Trump and Trump Jr. a letter to congratulate 
	3 candidate Trump on winning the Republican primary and to offer his “support and that of many 
	4 of his important Russian friends and colleagues[,] especially with reference to U.S./Russian 
	5 relations.”
	11
	  Trump apparently responded with a handwritten letter.
	12 

	6 According to both the Special Counsel’s and Senate Intelligence Committee reports, what 
	7 ultimately became the June 9 meeting originated from a June 3, 2016, phone call from Emin 
	8 The Special Counsel’s Report, in a heavily-redacted section, describes 
	Agalarov to Goldstone.
	13 

	9 the phone call as follows:  “Goldstone understood [redacted] a Russian political connection, and 
	10 Emin Agalarov indicated that the attorney was a prosecutor.  Goldstone recalled that the 
	11 information that might interest the Trumps involved Hillary Clinton. The [redacted] mentioned 
	12 by Emin Agalarov was Natalia Veselnitskaya.”  Goldstone also described the call in testimony 
	14

	Id. at 312. 
	10 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 111 (quoting Email from Goldstone, on behalf of Aras Agalarov, Feb. 29, 2016, which the Special Counsel’s Report labels as sent to “Trump Jr. et al.”) (alteration in original). During Trump’s candidacy, Goldstone also continued to propose commercial transactions with Trump Jr., though it is not clear whether the Agalarovs were engaged in these proposals. See Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 313-18 (quoting emails between Goldstone, Trump Jr and others about Goldstone’s pro
	11 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 321-22; see also id. at 319-21 (detailing multiple communications between Trumps and Agalarovs and including images of handwritten notes). 
	12 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 111 (citing Goldstone 2/8/18 FBI 302; Call Records of Robert Goldstone); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 345. 
	13 

	Id. at 111-12. The Senate Intelligence Committee describes Veselnitskaya as “a Russian lawyer who previously worked for, and remains in contact with, senior individuals in the Russian government” and states that she had “significant and concerning connections to Russian . . . intelligence officials.” Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 329, 333. Veselnitskaya told the committee she had done work for Aras Agalarov since 2013 or 2014. Id. at 338. In January 2019, DOJ unsealed an indictment against Veselni
	14 
	https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdny/pr/russian-attorney-natalya-veselnitskaya-charged-obstruction-justice
	-
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	1 to the Senate Intelligence Committee:  “[Emin] asked if I could possibly contact ‘the Trumps’. . . 2 because his father had met with a well-connected government lawyer in his office, who had some 3 interesting information about illicit Russian funding to the Democrats and its candidate; and 4 could I pass that on and get the meeting.”  Goldstone further testified that, when he indicated to 5 Emin that he did not know “what you’re asking me to convey,” Emin replied: “There’s 6 information, it’s potentially
	15
	16 
	17 

	10 subject “Russia — Clinton — private and confidential”: 11 Good morning 12 Emin just called and asked me to contact you with something very 13 interesting. 14 The Crown prosecutor of Russia met with his father Aras this 15 morning and in their meeting offered to provide the Trump 16 campaign with some official documents and information that 17 would incriminate Hillary and her dealings with Russia and would 18 be very useful to your father. 19 This is obviously very high level and sensitive information bu
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 345. 
	15 

	Id. at 346. Emin Agalarov testified that he did what his father had requested because, “When my father asks, I cannot say no.” Id. 
	16 

	Id. Goldstone also said that Aras Agalarov “never” directly tasked him to do things, but that he “would be asked to do things through a ‘chain of command’” through staff or Emin. Id. at n.2213. 
	17 
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	1 I can also send this info to your father via Rhona, but it is ultra 2 sensitive so wanted to send to you first. 3 Best, 4 Rob 5 Minutes later, Trump Jr. responded: “Thanks Rob I appreciate that.  I am on the road at the 6 moment but perhaps I just speak to Emin first.  Seems we have some time and if it’s what you 7 say I love it especially later in the summer.”Trump Jr. testified to the Senate Intelligence 8 Committee that he wanted to speak with Emin first because he had received “a rather 9 sensational 
	Goldstone.
	18 
	19 
	20 
	21 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump Jr., 6/3/16 10:36am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347; Compl. at 7, MUR 7266 (July 13, 2017). 
	18 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789839522140166

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Trump Jr. to Goldstone, 6/3/16 10:53am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	19 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789839522140166

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 348. 
	20 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 119 (Hannity, Transcript-Donald Trump Jr., FOX NEWS (July 11, 2017) (“Hannity Transcript”)). 
	21 
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	1 campaign.”  At a regularly scheduled “Family Meeting” on June 6, 2016, for senior campaign 2 officials and Trump family members, Trump Jr. discussed a “lead” on negative information 3   That same day and again the next day, June 7, 2016, 4 Trump Jr. appears to have had several phone calls with Emin Agalarov; the current information 5 6 On June 7, 2016, Goldstone emailed Trump Jr. again, writing: “Emin asked that I 7 schedule a meeting with you and [t]he Russian government attorney who is flying over from 
	22
	about Clinton from foreign nationals.
	23
	does not indicate the substance of those phone calls.
	24 
	25 

	10 Kushner] and me.”  The next day, Goldstone again emailed, asking to change the time of the 11 meeting and Trump Jr. agreed; Trump Jr. forwarded this email, which included the email chain 12 with Goldstone, to Manafort and Kushner with the subject line “FW: Russia — Clinton — 13 private and confidential.”Both Manafort and Kushner received the emails, with Manafort 
	26
	27 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 348 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said the foreign nationals were from Azerbaijan); see also id. at 348 n.2224 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said they were from Russia “and that they had derogatory information about Hillary Clinton”). 
	22 

	Id. at 349 (indicating that Deputy Campaign Manager Gates recalled Trump Jr. said the foreign nationals were from Kyrgyzstan and that Trump Jr. testified that he did not recall this discussion). 
	23 

	Id. at 350-52. 
	24 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 114 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump Jr., 6/7/16 4:20pm; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 352. 
	25 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413

	Special Counsel’s Report at 114 (citing Email from Trump, Jr. to Goldstone, 6/7/16 6:14pm; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 352. Between the emails sent at 4:20pm and 6:14pm, Trump Jr. and Goldstone sent additional emails to settle on the time and place for the meeting. @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), 
	26 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413. 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 355-56; Special Counsel’s Report at 115 (citing Email from Trump, Jr. to Kushner and Manafort, 6/8/16). 
	27 
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	1 responding Rick Gates, 2 who was then the Deputy Campaign Chairman, told the Special Counsel’s Office that Trump Jr. 3 announced the meeting to senior campaign staff, and that Manafort warned it would likely not 4 yield   Manafort told the Senate 5 Intelligence Committee that Trump Jr. would not have invited him to attend “unless Trump Jr. 6 thought the meeting would potentially be important.”7 Veselnitskaya reportedly 8 introduced herself as “a private attorney,” Akhmetshin was introduced as a lobbyist, 
	“See you then” and Kushner forwarding the message to his assistant.
	28 
	“vital information” and that they should be careful.
	29
	30 
	The June 9 meeting apparently lasted about 30 minutes.
	31 
	Samochornov as a translator.
	32

	10 “what brings you here? We hear you have some important information for the campaign.”11 Veselnitskaya stated that certain Americans with business in Russia had broken Russian laws 12 and donated their profits to the Democratic National Committee (the “DNC”) or the Clinton 13 According to several witnesses, Veselnitskaya had previously shown Akhmetshin 14 After Veselnitskaya made her 15 statements, Trump Jr. apparently followed-up by asking whether the alleged payments could be 
	33 
	campaign.
	34 
	some documents reflecting this alleged financial misconduct.
	35 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 115. 
	28 

	Id. (Kushner told the Special Counsel’s Office he did not recall whether this happened); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349 (indicating this was in the “Family Meeting”). Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349. Id. at 370. Goldstone accompanied the Russian delegation to the Trump offices and testified that he had 
	29 
	30 
	31 

	not planned or intended to attend the meeting, but stayed at Trump Jr.’s request so as to more easily accompany the Russians out after the meeting. Id. at 364. Id. at 365. Id. at 366. Special Counsel’s Report at 117. 
	32 
	33 
	34 

	Id. 
	35 
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	1 tied to the Clinton campaign, but Veselnitskaya responded that the money could not be traced 2 Veselnitskaya and Akhmetshin then discussed U.S. sanctions 3 imposed under the Magnitsky Act and Russia’s response to the law.  Akhmetshin and 4 Kaveladze reported to the Special Counsel that Trump Jr. followed up with specific questions 5 about Clinton;as Trump Jr. himself said in a later press interview, “I was probably pressing 6 [Veselnitskaya] because the pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information
	once it entered the United States.
	36 
	37
	38 
	39 
	40

	10 are we doing here?,” sent Manafort an iMessage stating “waste of time,” and emailed his 
	11 
	assistants with a request that he be telephoned in order to leave the meeting.
	41 

	12 Over a year later, news of the June 9 meeting broke and became the subject of 
	13   On July 11, 2017, Trump Jr. released a statement on Twitter, 
	widespread news reporting.
	42

	14 writing that he took the meeting based on his relationship with Emin Agalarov and that “[t]he 
	Id. at 118; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367 (quoting Akhmetshin’s testimony that Trump Jr. said, “That’s very interesting, but so could you show how money goes to Hillary’s campaign? . . . Could you show us how the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?”). 
	36 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118; Compl. at 3-4, MUR 7265 (citing Jo Becker, Matt Apuzzo and Adam Goldman, Trump’s Son Met With Russian Lawyer After Being Promised Damaging Information on Clinton, N.Y. TIMES, July 9, 2017). 
	37 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118. 
	38 

	MUR 7266 Compl. at 9 (quoting Hannity Transcript). 
	39 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370. 
	40 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118-19; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367. 
	41 

	See, e.g., Jo Becker, Matt Apuzzo, Adam Goldman, Trump Team Met with Lawyer Linked to Kremlin During Campaign, N.Y. TIMES, July 8, 2017 (cited in MUR 7266 Complaint at 4); Liam Stack, Donald Trump Jr.’s Two Different Explanations for Russian Meeting, N.Y. TIMES, July 9, 2017 (cited in MUR 7266 Complaint at 5). 
	42 
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	Donald Tmmp, Jr. 
	Factual and Legal Analysis 
	1 info1mation they suggested they had about Hillaiy Clinton I thought was Political Opposition 
	2 Reseai·ch."In the same tweet, he released his coITespondence with Goldstone setting up the 
	43 

	3 meeting, some of which is quoted earlier in this repo1t.The full text ofTmmp Jr.' s statement 
	44 

	4 is as follows: 
	To everyone, in order to be totally transparent, I am releasing the entire email chain of my emails with Rob Goldstone about the meeting on June 9, 2016. llhefirstemail on June 3, 2016 was from Rob, who was r,elating a request from Emin, a perso.n I !knew from die 2013 Ms. Universe Pageant near Moscow. Eminand his father nave a very highly respected company in Moscow. The information tlleysuggestedl 
	they had abo\lt Hillary Clinton I thought was Politiu,I Opposition Research. I first wanted to just have a 
	phone call but when that didn't work out, they said the woman would be in New Yor~ and asked if I 
	would meet. Idecided to tike the meeting. The wom<!n, i! S she h;is s;iid publidy, w.is llOt ;11government 
	official. And, as we have 5,aid, she had no informatton to provide and wanted lo talk about adoption 
	policy and the Magnitsli:y Act To put th is in context, this occurred before the current Russian fever was 
	in vogue. As Rob Goldstone sard just todav in the press, the entire meeting was "the most inane 
	nonsense I ever heard. And I was actually agitated b-y it. N 
	5 
	6 The Complaints allege that Tmmp Jr., as an agent of the Tnunp Committee, violated the 
	7 Act by soliciting a contribution from foreign nationals in the course ofsetting up and attending 
	8 this meeting. In addition, the Complaint in MUR 7266 alleges that Kushner and Manafo1t 
	45 

	9 either solicited a prohibited foreign national contribution or substantially assisted in such a 
	43 
	@DonaldJTnunpJr, TWITIER (July 11 , 2017, 11 :00am), . Prior to Tmmp Jr. 's release ofhis statement, his counsel, and counsel for the Tmmp Organization spoke with or emailed Goldstone and Kaveladze "to coordinate and draft a public statement." Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 395. The record does not make clear whether Tmmp Jr. 's statement quoted above is that statement. 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTmmpJr/status/884789418455953413

	Supra notes 18-19. 
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	45 
	Compl. at 6, MUR 7265; Compl. at 12-15, MUR 7266; Compl. at 1-2, 
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	1 solicitation,  Following 2 the release of the Special Counsel’s Report, the Complainants in MUR 7266 submitted a 3 Supplemental Complaint, contending that the Report “confirmed every material factual and legal 4 allegation in our complaint.”  Trump Jr. filed a Response to that Supplemental Complaint 5 6 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 7 A. The Commission Finds Reason to Believe That Donald Trump Jr. 
	46
	 and that Goldstone substantially assisted in a prohibited solicitation.
	47
	48
	arguing that the Special Counsel’s Report supports dismissal of these matters.
	49 

	8 Impermissibly Solicited a Contribution from Russian Nationals 9 As discussed below, the contemplated free opposition research at issue in these matters 10 constitutes a thing of value and its provision to the Trump Committee, if it had in fact been 11 made, would have constituted a contribution under the Act.  Through his communications prior 12 to and during the June 9 meeting, Trump Jr. requested that foreign nationals provide that 13 information to the Trump Committee.  Therefore, the information befor
	Compl. at 15-16, MUR 7266 (“On June 8, 2016, Trump Jr. forwarded the email chain between himself and Goldstone to Kushner and Manafort, with the subject line ‘FW: Russia – Clinton – private and confidential.’ . . . By Kushner and Manafort participating in Trump Jr.’s arrangements to accept the foreign national contribution at an in-person meeting at Trump campaign headquarters, and by attending the meeting at which they had been told the contribution would be discussed, Kushner and Manafort solicited a cont
	46 

	Id. at 16 (“Goldstone, by working to connect Russian nationals with Donald J. Trump for President Inc. officials for the purpose of effecting an in-kind contribution, and by providing substantial assistance to Trump Jr. in arranging the meeting at which that contribution was to be discussed and solicited, violated the prohibition on any person knowingly providing substantial assistance in the solicitation or making of a contribution or donation from a foreign national.”) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
	47 

	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7266. The Supplemental Complaint focuses on a legal argument rather than presenting new or updated factual allegations. 
	48 

	Trump Jr. Resp., MUR 7266 (July 19, 2019). 
	49 
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	1 1. 2 3 4 The Act prohibits foreign nationals from “directly or indirectly” making a contribution or 
	Opposition Research is a Thing of Value and its Provision Without Charge 
	is a Contribution Under the Act 

	5 making “an express or implied promise to make a contribution” in connection with a federal, 
	6  A “foreign national” includes an individual who is not a citizen of the 
	state, or local election.
	50

	7 United States or a national of the United States and who is not lawfully admitted for permanent 
	8 The Act and Commission regulations also prohibit any person from knowingly 
	residence.
	51 

	9 To solicit means “to 
	soliciting, accepting, or receiving a contribution from a foreign national.
	52 

	10 ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, 
	11 donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.”
	53 

	12 In affirming the constitutionality of the Act’s ban on foreign national contributions, the 
	13 court in Bluman v. FEC held: 
	14 It is fundamental to the definition of our national political 15 community that foreign citizens do not have a constitutional right 16 to participate in, and thus may be excluded from, activities of 17 democratic self-government.  It follows, therefore, that the United 18 States has a compelling interest for purposes of First Amendment 19 analysis in limiting the participation of foreign citizens in activities 20 of American democratic self-government, and in thereby 21 22 
	preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process.
	54 

	50 
	50 
	50 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A). 

	51 
	51 
	Id. § 30121(b)(2). The term “foreign national” also includes “a foreign principal,” which is defined as, 

	among other things, “a government of a foreign country.” Id. § 30121(b)(1) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 611(b)); see also 
	among other things, “a government of a foreign country.” Id. § 30121(b)(1) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 611(b)); see also 

	Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 4583 (Devendra Singh and the Embassy of India) (finding reason to believe that the 
	Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 4583 (Devendra Singh and the Embassy of India) (finding reason to believe that the 

	Indian Embassy as well as an embassy official knowingly and willfully violated the Act’s ban on foreign national 
	Indian Embassy as well as an embassy official knowingly and willfully violated the Act’s ban on foreign national 

	contributions). 
	contributions). 

	52 
	52 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g); see also id. § 110.20(a)(4) (definition of knowingly). 

	53 
	53 
	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating the definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). 

	54 
	54 
	800 F. Supp. 2d 281, 288 (D.D.C. 2011), aff’d, 565 U.S. 1104 (2012). 
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	1 The Act defines “contribution” as “any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of 2 money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for 3 Federal office.”  “[A]nything of value includes all in-kind contributions” such as “the provision 4 of any goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual and normal 5 charge.”6 Although goods or services provided by a person — foreign or domestic — at the usual 7 and normal charge do not consti
	55
	56 

	10 fide commercial transaction to perform services for the political committee, could potentially 11 result in the receipt of a prohibited in-kind contribution.  Indeed, the Commission has recognized 12 the “broad scope” of the foreign national contribution prohibition and found that even where the 13 value of a good “may be nominal or difficult to ascertain,” such contributions are nevertheless 14 15 In other contexts, the Commission has concluded that the provision of certain 16 information, including a c
	banned.
	57 

	52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i). 
	55 

	11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1); see Advisory Op. 2007-22 at 5 (Hurysz) (“AO 2007-22”). 
	56 

	AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. 69928, 69940 (Nov. 19, 2002) (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, “Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,” Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value by foreign nationals.”) (emphasis added)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Brief at 24, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l Comm., et al.) (describing the legislative history of the foreign national pr
	57 
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	1 be things of value within the definition of “contribution.”  For instance, in MUR 5409 2 (Norquist, et al.), the Commission concluded that a master contact list of political activists was 3 “something of value, meeting the Act’s broad definition of contribution,” given that a 4 corporation had “utilized its resources to obtain and compile” the materials; the materials 5 contained “information that may [have been] of value in connection with the [] election”; and it 6 appeared the materials were not “readi
	58
	59 

	10 the Agalarovs in Goldstone’s initial email and sought by Trump Jr. is a thing of value under the 11 Act.  When Goldstone first reached out to Trump Jr. on June 3, Goldstone explicitly referred to 12 “official documents and information that would incriminate Hillary and her dealings with 13 Russia” that would be shared at the meeting as “part of Russia and its government’s support for 14 Mr. Trump.”Thus the record in the instant matters indicates that the offered and sought 15 material would have required
	60 

	See Factual & Legal Analysis at 13-20, MUR 6414 (Carnahan) (research services); Advisory Op. 1990-12 at 2 (Strub) (“AO 1992-12”) (description and analysis of poll results); First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission opinion) (list of activists provided to a campaign without charge were “of value” because they “may at least point [the campaign] in the direction of persons who might help [its] election efforts”); Cert., MUR 5409 ¶ 2 (Norquist, et al.) (Oct. 20, 2004
	58 

	First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission opinion) (internal quotation marks omitted); Cert. ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (Oct. 20, 2004). The Commission found reason to believe that the respondents in MUR 5409 violated the prohibition on corporate contributions but took no further action because the value of the materials at issue appeared to be limited. First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10-11, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.); Cert. ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.). 
	59 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump, Jr., 6/3/16 10:36am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	60 
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	1 “official” and coming from the Russian “Crown prosecutor” as part of part of “Russia and its 2 government’s support for Mr. Trump,”  Goldstone indicated that the Agalarovs were offering 3 information obtained or compiled by compensated personnel from the Russian government. 4 Further, the information offered and sought in these matters was not “readily or publicly 5 available,” which was a critical factor the Commission considered in MUR 5409 (Norquist) 6   Goldstone conveyed 7 in his initial email, under
	61
	when concluding that a compilation of materials was something of value.
	62

	10 11 There does not appear to be any question that the research at issue was being offered for 12 less than its usual and normal cost; indeed, it was unambiguously being offered for free as “part 13 of Russia and its government’s support for Mr. Trump — helped along by Aras and Emin.”14 There is no indication in any of the investigative reports that Trump Jr. or the Trump Committee 15 intended to pay for the opposition research.  Thus, it appears that Trump Jr. was seeking 16 something of value without cha
	publicly available.
	63 
	64 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	61 

	First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist) (adopted as dispositive). Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	62 
	63 
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	1 Here, the purported information at issue was 
	or inferred from the surrounding circumstances.
	65 

	2 offered to and sought by “the Trump campaign” with an explicit focus on derogatory 
	66

	3 information “that could be helpful to the campaign.” Goldstone not only told Trump Jr. that the 
	67

	4 research was intended to help the Trump campaign, but also specifically stated that the 
	5 information would “incriminate” Trump’s opponent and “be very useful to your father.”The 
	68 

	6 overall record in these matters suggests that the proposed provision of “official documents and 
	7 information” would not have been offered or sought but for Trump’s status as a federal candidate 
	8 
	and the desire to obtain an electoral advantage.
	69 

	9 Because the opposition research was a thing of value, offered at no cost, and for the 
	10 purpose of influencing an election, if provided it would have been a contribution under the Act. 
	11 2. 12 13 14 The available information similarly indicates that Trump Jr.’s efforts to obtain 
	Trump Jr. Knowingly Solicited the Opposition Research From Foreign 
	Nationals 

	15 information from individuals he knew to be Russian nationals constituted a solicitation of a 
	See, e.g., Advisory Op. 2000-08 (Harvey) at 1, 3 (“AO 2000-08”) (concluding private individual’s $10,000 “gift” to federal candidate would be a contribution because “the proposed gift would not be made but for the recipient’s status as a Federal candidate”); Advisory Op. 1988-22 (San Joaquin Valley Republican Associates) at 5 (concluding third party newspaper publishing comments regarding federal candidates, coordinated with those candidates or their agents, thereby made contributions “for the purpose of in
	65 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	66 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347; see also id. at 348 n.2224 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said they were from Russia “and that they had derogatory information about Hillary Clinton”).. 
	67 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	68 

	See AO 2000-08 (Harvey) at 1, 3 (concluding gift would be a contribution because it “would not be made but for the recipient’s status as a Federal candidate”). 
	69 
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	1 contribution.  Commission regulations define “solicit” to mean “ask, request, or recommend, 2 explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 3 otherwise provide anything of value.”4 A solicitation is an oral or written communication that, construed 
	70 

	5 as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, 6 contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that 7 another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 8 otherwise provide anything of value.  A solicitation may be made 9 directly or indirectly.  The context includes the conduct of persons 
	10 11 Commission regulations include examples of statements that would constitute solicitations, 12 including but not limited to: “I will not forget those who contribute at this crucial stage”;13 “[t]he candidate will be very pleased if we can count on you for $10,000”; and “[y]our 
	involved in the communication.
	71 
	72 
	73

	14 contribution to this campaign would mean a great deal to the entire party and to me 15 personally.”The Commission has also identified certain communications that qualify as 16 “solicitations,” such as “providing a separate card, envelope, or reply device that contains an 17 address to which funds may be sent.”18 Considering the overall context, Trump Jr.’s communications both leading up to the June 19 9 meeting and in the meeting itself contained a clear message requesting the damaging 20 information on 
	74 
	75 

	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). Id. § 300.2(m). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xi). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xii). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xiii). See id. § 300.2(m)(1) (listing examples). 
	70 
	71 
	72 
	73 
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	1 Russian government.  His response to Goldstone’s initial message, “I love it,”is similar to the 2 example solicitation phrase in the Commission’s regulations that “the candidate will be very 3 pleased.”In a subsequent press interview, Trump Jr. acknowledged that the purpose of 4 following up on Goldstone’s message was to obtain the opposition research, stating that if 5 “someone has information on our opponent . . . maybe this is something.  I should hear them 6 out.”7 Critically, witnesses who were prese
	76 
	77 
	78 
	Jr. asked at the meeting about the damaging information about Clinton.
	79 

	10 the Senate Intelligence Committee that Trump Jr. explicitly asked the Russian nationals to 11 provide the derogatory information during the June 9 meeting, asking “could you show us how 12 the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?”  And Trump Jr. himself publicly acknowledged in a 13 media interview that “I was probably pressing [Veselnitskaya for information] because the 14 pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information about your opponent.’”When considered 15 in the context that the stated purpose of
	80
	81 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)(2)(xii). Special Counsel’s Report at 119 (citing Hannity Transcript). Special Counsel’s Report at 118 (citing testimony of Akhmetshin for his testimony that Trump Jr. asked 
	76 
	77 
	78 
	79 

	how specific payments could be tied to the Clinton campaign and Kaveladze for his testimony that Trump Jr. asked what the Russians had on Clinton); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349. 
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367. Compl. at 9, MUR 7266 (quoting Hannity Transcript); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370 (quoting Trump Jr. that the “meeting really wasn’t about anything that [Goldstone] said it was going to be about.”) 
	80 
	81 
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	Factual and Legal Analysis 

	1 
	1 
	“pressing” Veselnitskaya for “‘information about [Donald Trump’s] opponent’” and by asking, 

	2 
	2 
	“Could you show us how the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?” — constituted a request for 

	3 
	3 
	such information, which as set forth above, was something of value for the purpose of 

	4 
	4 
	influencing an election and, therefore, a contribution.  Accordingly, Trump Jr.’s communications 

	5 
	5 
	constitute an improper solicitation of a prohibited contribution under the Act.82 

	6 
	6 
	3. The Department of Justice’s Decision Not to Prosecute Does Not Preclude 

	7 
	7 
	Civil Enforcement 

	8 
	8 
	Trump Jr. argues that the Special Counsel’s Report confirms that no violation of the Act 

	9 
	9 
	occurred in connection with the June 9 meeting.83  However, the Special Counsel’s Report does 

	10 
	10 
	not reach that conclusion.  Instead, the Report explains: 

	11 
	11 
	There are reasonable arguments that the offered information would 

	12 
	12 
	constitute a “thing of value” within the meaning of [the Act], but the 

	13 
	13 
	[Special Counsel’s] Office determined that the government would not be 

	14 
	14 
	likely to obtain and sustain a conviction for two other reasons:  first, the 

	15 
	15 
	[Special Counsel’s] Office did not obtain admissible evidence likely to 

	16 
	16 
	meet the government’s burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

	17 
	17 
	these individuals acted “willfully,” i.e., with general knowledge of the 

	18 
	18 
	illegality of their conduct; and, second, the government would likely 

	19 
	19 
	encounter difficulty in proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the value of 

	20 21 
	20 21 
	the promised information exceeded the threshold for a criminal violation [$25,000 for felony punishment].84 

	22 
	22 
	In fact, when the Special Counsel’s Office examined Commission precedent regarding “thing of 

	23 
	23 
	value,” that Office came to the legal conclusion that “[t]hese authorities would support the view 

	24 
	24 
	that candidate-related opposition research given to a campaign for the purpose of influencing an 

	25 
	25 
	election could constitute a contribution to which the foreign-source ban could apply.”85 

	TR
	82 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2). 

	TR
	83 Trump Jr. Resp., MUR 7266 at 1. 

	TR
	84 Special Counsel’s Report at 186. 

	TR
	85 Id. at 187. 

	TR
	Attachment 1 of 4 

	TR
	Page 19 of 21 


	MURs 7265 / 7266 Donald Trump, Jr. Factual and Legal Analysis 
	1 The Special Counsel’s decision not to prosecute anyone in connection with the June 9 
	2 meeting, as explained above, was based on considerations that are materially distinct from the 
	3 Commission’s consideration of these matters in an administrative and civil context.  While a 
	4 criminal prosecution for a violation of the Act would need to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 
	5 that the violation was knowing and willful, the Commission in a civil proceeding would only 
	6 have to establish a violation of the Act based upon a preponderance of the evidence— 
	86 

	7 Indeed, in previous cases 
	regardless of whether the respondent was aware of the illegality.
	87 

	8 where the Department of Justice was unable to secure criminal convictions for a violation of the 
	9 Act, the Commission has successfully conciliated with respondents on a non-knowing and 
	10 Moreover, for the Commission 
	willful basis to ensure that the interests of the Act were served.
	88 

	11 to find reason to believe in these administrative proceedings at this stage, the information before 
	12 the Commission need only raise a reasonable inference, i.e., credibly allege, that a violation 
	13 
	occurred.
	89 


	See Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 387 (1983) (“In a typical civil suit for money damages, plaintiffs must prove their case by a preponderance of the evidence.”). 
	86 

	See FEC v. Novacek, 739 F. Supp. 2d 957, 966 (N.D. Tx. 2010) (finding that Commission need not establish intent where Commission seeks civil penalties on a non-knowing and willful basis); see also FEC v. Malenick2004) (holding that a “knowing” violation of the Act “as opposed to a ‘knowing and willful’ one, does not require knowledge that one is violating the law, but merely requires an intent to act.”) (quoting FEC v. John A. Dramesi for Congress Comm., 640 F. Supp. 985, 987 (D.N.J.1986)), rev’d on motion 
	87 
	, 301 F.Supp.2d 230, 237 n.9 (D.D.C. 

	See Conciliation Agreement, MUR 7221 (James Laurita, Jr.) (respondent admitted to non-knowing and willful violations of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30122 after his criminal trial ended in a hung jury); Conciliation Agreement, MUR 5818 (Fieger, Fieger, Kenney, Johnson & Giroux, P.C.) (corporate respondent entered into conciliation agreement on non-knowing and willful basis for violations of sections 30118 and 30122 after criminal trial of individual defendants resulted in acquittal). 
	88 

	See Statement of Policy Regarding Commission Action in Matters at the Initial Stage in the Enforcement Process, 72 Fed. Reg. 12545, 12545 (Mar. 16, 2007) (explaining also that “reason to believe” findings “indicate only that the Commission found sufficient legal justification to open an investigation to determine whether a violation of the Act has occurred.”). 
	89 
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	1 With regard to valuation, the Special Counsel’s Office noted that the $25,000 value of the 2 opposition research necessary to establish a felony criminal charge would be difficult to 3   This difficulty in 4 valuing the information would not be a barrier to Commission action, as even contributions that 5 are “nominal” or “difficult to ascertain” would still be prohibited in the civil context, and the Act 6 provides for statutory penalties, which are well suited for solicitation matters such as the ones at
	determine in part because no actual valuable information was provided.
	90
	issue.
	91
	Act’s purpose of limiting foreign influence over the U.S. political process.
	92 

	10 * * * 11 Because the available information indicates that Trump Jr. solicited a contribution from a 12 foreign national without charge for the purpose of influencing a federal election, the Commission 13 finds reason to believe that Trump Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. 14 § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national. 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 188. 
	90 

	AO 2007-22 at 6; cf. MUR 7048 (Cruz) (conciliating statutory penalty for soft money solicitation violation). 
	91 

	See Bluman, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 288 (recognizing that “the United States has a compelling interest . . . in limiting the participation of foreign citizens in activities of American democratic self-government, and in thereby preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process”). 
	92 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

	2 
	2 

	3 
	3 
	FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

	4 
	4 

	5 
	5 

	6 
	6 

	7 
	7 
	RESPONDENT:
	    Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 
	MUR 7265, 7266 

	8 
	8 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official 

	9 
	9 
	capacity as treasurer 

	10 
	10 

	11 
	11 
	I. 
	INTRODUCTION 

	12 
	12 
	The Complaints in these matters allege that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., and 

	13 
	13 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), the authorized 

	14 
	14 
	committee of 2016 presidential candidate Donald J. Trump, as well as several representatives of 

	15 
	15 
	the Trump Committee, solicited a prohibited foreign national contribution by seeking damaging 

	16 
	16 
	information on Trump’s general election opponent, Hillary R. Clinton, from Russian nationals in 

	17 
	17 
	violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).  Specifically, 

	18 
	18 
	these Complaints concern a meeting held on June 9, 2016 (the “June 9 meeting”) organized by 

	19 
	19 
	Trump’s son and senior campaign advisor, Donald Trump Jr., that occurred at Trump Tower in 

	20 
	20 
	New York City. 

	21 
	21 
	Based on the available information, it appears that Trump Jr., in his capacity as an agent 

	22 
	22 
	of the Trump Committee, solicited opposition research on candidate Trump’s opponent from 

	23 
	23 
	individuals he knew to be Russian nationals.  In these circumstances, the damaging information 

	24 
	24 
	solicited by Trump Jr. constitutes a thing of value under Commission precedent.  Accordingly, 

	25 
	25 
	the Commission finds reason to believe that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. 

	26 
	26 
	§ 30121(a)(2) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national. 
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	1 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	1 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	2 The allegations in these matters concern the June 9 meeting at Trump Tower, a subject of 
	3 investigation by other investigative bodies, including both the Office of the Special Counsel and 
	1

	4 the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence.  The June 9 meeting participants were Trump Jr., 
	2

	5 Campaign Chairman Manafort, senior campaign advisor Kushner, a contingent of Russian 
	6 nationals led by former Russian prosecutor Natalia Veselnitskaya including lobbyist Rinat 
	7 Akhmetshin, Irakli “Ike” Kaveladze, and Anatoli Samochornov, and, finally, Rob Goldstone, 
	8 who worked for Emin Agalarov.
	3 

	9 The background to this meeting began several years prior to the 2016 election, with the 
	10 introduction of the Trump family to the Agalarov family.  According to the Special Counsel’s 
	11 Report, “Aras Agalarov is a Russian real-estate developer with ties to [Russian President 
	12 Vladimir] Putin and other members of the Russian government.”  In 2013, through their 
	4

	SPECIAL COUNSEL ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, REPORT ON THE INVESTIGATION INTO RUSSIAN INTERFERENCE IN THE 2016 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION, Vol. 1 at 110-123 (Mar. 22, 2019) (“Special Counsel’s Report”); see also Supp. Compl., MUR 7266 (Apr. 30, 2019) (updating allegations with findings from the Special Counsel’s Report). 
	1 

	U.S. SENATE SELECT COMM. ON INTELLIGENCE, RUSSIAN ACTIVE MEASURES CAMPAIGNS AND INTERFERENCE IN THE 2016 U.S. ELECTION, VOLUME 5: COUNTERINTELLIGENCE, THREATS AND VULNERABILITIES at 345-395 (Aug. 18, 2020) (“Senate Intelligence Committee Report”). The Senate Intelligence Committee explained that its “investigation focused on the counterintelligence threat posed by the Russian intelligence services” while the Special Counsel focused on criminal activity. Id. at 4. 
	2 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 6, 111, 117 (describing Goldstone as a publicist to Emin Agalarov); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 322, 364; see also Compl. at 2-4, MUR 7265 (July 10, 2017) (alleging same); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 270 (describing Goldstone as Emin’s “aide” and promoter). Goldstone appears to be a British national. See, e.g., Rosalind S. Helderman, How a British Music Publicist Ended up in the Middle of the Russia Storm, WASH. POST music-publicist-ended-up-in-the-middle-
	3 
	(Sept. 22, 2018), https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/how-a-british
	-

	-

	Special Counsel’s Report at 110; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 261 (detailing Aras Agalarov’s construction and real estate businesses, connections to Putin, and associations with Russian organized crime). 
	4 
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	1 respective organizations, the Crocus Group and the Trump Organization, Aras Agalarov worked 
	2 with Donald Trump in connection with the Miss Universe pageant held in Moscow.  Shortly 
	5

	3 thereafter, Agalarov’s firm, the Crocus Group, and the Trump Organization entered into 
	4 discussions regarding a potential Trump Moscow real-estate project.The Special Counsel’s 
	6 

	5 Report states that Trump Jr. served as “the primary negotiator for the Trump Organization,” 
	6 while Emin Agalarov, Agalarov’s son, and Ike Kaveladze “represented the Crocus Group during 
	7 negotiations.”  Emin Agalarov and Trump Jr. signed “preliminary terms of an agreement for the 
	7

	8 Trump Tower Moscow project” in December 2013 and negotiated a letter of intent in early 2014, 
	9 but the project never “developed past” the planning stage; the last apparent communication 
	10 between the two groups about the project occurred in late November 2014.
	8 

	11 Despite the failed real estate deal, the Agalarovs and the Trumps remained on friendly 
	12 terms.  For instance, on June 16, 2015, the day Trump announced his candidacy, Goldstone 
	9

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67 n.291; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 259; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 271, 275-79 (detailing Miss Universe planning emails between Trump Organization employees and Goldstone, for the Agalarovs). 
	5 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67-68 (“From January 2014 through November 2014, the Trump Organization and Crocus Group discussed development plans for the Moscow project.”); id. at 110-11 (describing how Agalarov, as president of the Crocus Group, “worked with Trump in connection with the 2013 Miss Universe pageant in Moscow and a potential Trump Moscow real-estate project”). 
	6 

	Id. at 67; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 267 (stating that Emin Agalarov is “Executive Vice President of Crocus group”); id. at 301 (citing November 19, 2013, email from Trump Jr. to Emin Agalarov introducing himself “for the first time” and expressing interest in Trump Tower Moscow project). 
	7 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 67-68; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 307-09 (describing several meetings from winter to spring 2014, including meetings between Trump Jr., Emin Agalarov, and Goldstone in January 2014 in New York City and in Doral, Florida in March 2014, but concluding that discussions “slowed” by late summer to fall 2014). 
	8 

	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 310-11, n.2027 (describing several meetings between Trump, Emin Agalarov, and Goldstone at Trump Tower in early 2015 that Goldstone described, in testimony to the Senate Committee, as “personal” and about which Emin Agalarov reportedly said “We kind of hang out”). Goldstone and Emin Agalarov both testified to the Senate committee that, in a meeting at Trump Tower in May 2015, Trump discussed running for president. Id. at 311. 
	9 
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	1   On 
	emailed Trump Jr. asking him to pass on his and Emin Agalarov’s congratulations.
	10

	2 February 29, 2016, Aras Agalarov reportedly sent Trump and Trump Jr. a letter to congratulate 
	3 candidate Trump on winning the Republican primary and to offer his “support and that of many 
	4 of his important Russian friends and colleagues[,] especially with reference to U.S./Russian 
	5 relations.”
	11
	  Trump apparently responded with a handwritten letter.
	12 

	6 According to both the Special Counsel’s and Senate Intelligence Committee reports, what 
	7 ultimately became the June 9 meeting originated from a June 3, 2016, phone call from Emin 
	8 The Special Counsel’s Report, in a heavily-redacted section, describes 
	Agalarov to Goldstone.
	13 

	9 the phone call as follows:  “Goldstone understood [redacted] a Russian political connection, and 
	10 Emin Agalarov indicated that the attorney was a prosecutor.  Goldstone recalled that the 
	11 information that might interest the Trumps involved Hillary Clinton. The [redacted] mentioned 
	12 by Emin Agalarov was Natalia Veselnitskaya.”  Goldstone also described the call in testimony 
	14

	Id. at 312. 
	10 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 111 (quoting Email from Goldstone, on behalf of Aras Agalarov, Feb. 29, 2016, which the Special Counsel’s Report labels as sent to “Trump Jr. et al.”) (alteration in original). During Trump’s candidacy, Goldstone also continued to propose commercial transactions with Trump Jr., though it is not clear whether the Agalarovs were engaged in these proposals. See Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 313-18 (quoting emails between Goldstone, Trump Jr and others about Goldstone’s pro
	11 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 321-22; see also id. at 319-21 (detailing multiple communications between Trumps and Agalarovs and including images of handwritten notes). 
	12 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 111 (citing Goldstone 2/8/18 FBI 302; Call Records of Robert Goldstone); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 345. 
	13 

	Id. at 111-12. The Senate Intelligence Committee describes Veselnitskaya as “a Russian lawyer who previously worked for, and remains in contact with, senior individuals in the Russian government” and states that she had “significant and concerning connections to Russian . . . intelligence officials.” Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 329, 333. Veselnitskaya told the committee she had done work for Aras Agalarov since 2013 or 2014. Id. at 338. In January 2019, DOJ unsealed an indictment against Veselni
	14 
	https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdny/pr/russian-attorney-natalya-veselnitskaya-charged-obstruction-justice
	-
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	1 to the Senate Intelligence Committee:  “[Emin] asked if I could possibly contact ‘the Trumps’. . . 2 because his father had met with a well-connected government lawyer in his office, who had some 3 interesting information about illicit Russian funding to the Democrats and its candidate; and 4 could I pass that on and get the meeting.”  Goldstone further testified that, when he indicated to 5 Emin that he did not know “what you’re asking me to convey,” Emin replied: “There’s 6 information, it’s potentially
	15
	16 
	17 

	10 subject “Russia — Clinton — private and confidential”: 11 Good morning 12 Emin just called and asked me to contact you with something very 13 interesting. 14 The Crown prosecutor of Russia met with his father Aras this 15 morning and in their meeting offered to provide the Trump 16 campaign with some official documents and information that 17 would incriminate Hillary and her dealings with Russia and would 18 be very useful to your father. 19 This is obviously very high level and sensitive information bu
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 345. 
	15 

	Id. at 346. Emin Agalarov testified that he did what his father had requested because, “When my father asks, I cannot say no.” Id. 
	16 

	Id. Goldstone also said that Aras Agalarov “never” directly tasked him to do things, but that he “would be asked to do things through a ‘chain of command’” through staff or Emin. Id. at n.2213. 
	17 
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	1 I can also send this info to your father via Rhona, but it is ultra 2 sensitive so wanted to send to you first. 3 Best, 4 Rob 5 Minutes later, Trump Jr. responded: “Thanks Rob I appreciate that.  I am on the road at the 6 moment but perhaps I just speak to Emin first.  Seems we have some time and if it’s what you 7 say I love it especially later in the summer.”  Trump Jr. testified to the Senate Intelligence 8 Committee that he wanted to speak with Emin first because he had received “a rather 9 sensationa
	Goldstone.
	18 
	19
	20 
	21 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump Jr., 6/3/16 10:36am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347; Compl. at 7, MUR 7266 (July 13, 2017). 
	18 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789839522140166

	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Trump Jr. to Goldstone, 6/3/16 10:53am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
	19 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789839522140166

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 348. 
	20 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 119 (Hannity, Transcript-Donald Trump Jr., FOX NEWS (July 11, 2017) (“Hannity Transcript”)). 
	21 
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	1 campaign.”  At a regularly scheduled “Family Meeting” on June 6, 2016, for senior campaign 2 officials and Trump family members, Trump Jr. discussed a “lead” on negative information 3   That same day and again the next day, June 7, 2016, 4 Trump Jr. appears to have had several phone calls with Emin Agalarov; the current information 5 6 On June 7, 2016, Goldstone emailed Trump Jr. again, writing: “Emin asked that I 7 schedule a meeting with you and [t]he Russian government attorney who is flying over from 
	22
	about Clinton from foreign nationals.
	23
	does not indicate the substance of those phone calls.
	24 
	25 

	10 Kushner] and me.”  The next day, Goldstone again emailed, asking to change the time of the 
	26

	11 meeting and Trump Jr. agreed; Trump Jr. forwarded this email, which included the email chain 
	12 with Goldstone, to Manafort and Kushner with the subject line “FW: Russia — Clinton — 
	13 private and confidential.”Both Manafort and Kushner received the emails, with Manafort 
	27 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 348 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said the foreign nationals were from Azerbaijan); see also id. at 348 n.2224 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said they were from Russia “and that they had derogatory information about Hillary Clinton”). 
	22 

	Id. at 349 (indicating that Deputy Campaign Manager Gates recalled Trump Jr. said the foreign nationals were from Kyrgyzstan and that Trump Jr. testified that he did not recall this discussion). 
	23 

	Id. at 350-52. 
	24 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 114 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump Jr., 6/7/16 4:20pm; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 352. 
	25 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413

	Special Counsel’s Report at 114 (citing Email from Trump, Jr. to Goldstone, 6/7/16 6:14pm; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 352. Between the emails sent at 4:20pm and 6:14pm, Trump Jr. and Goldstone sent additional emails to settle on the time and place for the meeting. @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00am), . 
	26 
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413
	https://twitter.com/DonaldJTrumpJr/status/884789418455953413

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 355-56; Special Counsel’s Report at 115 (citing Email from Trump, Jr. to Kushner and Manafort, 6/8/16). 
	27 
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	1 Rick Gates, 2 who was then the Deputy Campaign Chairman, told the Special Counsel’s Office that Trump Jr. 3 announced the meeting to senior campaign staff, and that Manafort warned it would likely not 4 yield   Manafort told the Senate 5 Intelligence Committee that Trump Jr. would not have invited him to attend “unless Trump Jr. 6 thought the meeting would potentially be important.”7 Veselnitskaya reportedly 8 introduced herself as “a private attorney,” Akhmetshin was introduced as a lobbyist, and 9   Tru
	responding “See you then” and Kushner forwarding the message to his assistant.
	28 
	“vital information” and that they should be careful.
	29
	30 
	The June 9 meeting apparently lasted about 30 minutes.
	31 
	Samochornov as a translator.
	32

	10 “what brings you here? We hear you have some important information for the campaign.”11 Veselnitskaya stated that certain Americans with business in Russia had broken Russian laws 12 and donated their profits to the Democratic National Committee (the “DNC”) or the Clinton 13 According to several witnesses, Veselnitskaya had previously shown Akhmetshin 14 After Veselnitskaya made her 15 statements, Trump Jr. apparently followed-up by asking whether the alleged payments could be 
	33 
	campaign.
	34 
	some documents reflecting this alleged financial misconduct.
	35 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 115. 
	28 

	Id. (Kushner told the Special Counsel’s Office he did not recall whether this happened); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349 (indicating this was in the “Family Meeting”). Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349. Id. at 370. Goldstone accompanied the Russian delegation to the Trump offices and testified that he had 
	29 
	30 
	31 

	not planned or intended to attend the meeting, but stayed at Trump Jr.’s request so as to more easily accompany the Russians out after the meeting. Id. at 364. Id. at 365. Id. at 366. Special Counsel’s Report at 117. 
	32 
	33 
	34 

	Id. 
	35 

	MURs 7265 / 7266 Donald J. Trump for President Factual and Legal Analysis 
	1 tied to the Clinton campaign, but Veselnitskaya responded that the money could not be traced 2 Veselnitskaya and Akhmetshin then discussed U.S. sanctions 3 imposed under the Magnitsky Act and Russia’s response to the law.  Akhmetshin and 4 Kaveladze reported to the Special Counsel that Trump Jr. followed up with specific questions 5 about Clinton;as Trump Jr. himself said in a later press interview, “I was probably pressing 6 [Veselnitskaya] because the pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information
	once it entered the United States.
	36 
	37
	38 
	39 
	40

	10 are we doing here?,” sent Manafort an iMessage stating “waste of time,” and emailed his 
	11 
	assistants with a request that he be telephoned in order to leave the meeting.
	41 

	12 Over a year later, news of the June 9 meeting broke and became the subject of 
	13   On July 11, 2017, Trump Jr. released a statement on Twitter, 
	widespread news reporting.
	42

	14 writing that he took the meeting based on his relationship with Emin Agalarov and that “[t]he 
	Id. at 118; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367 (quoting Akhmetshin’s testimony that Trump Jr. said, “That’s very interesting, but so could you show how money goes to Hillary’s campaign? . . . Could you show us how the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?”). 
	36 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118; Compl. at 3-4, MUR 7265 (citing Jo Becker, Matt Apuzzo and Adam Goldman, Trump’s Son Met With Russian Lawyer After Being Promised Damaging Information on Clinton, N.Y. TIMES, July 9, 2017). 
	37 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118. 
	38 

	MUR 7266 Compl. at 9 (quoting Hannity Transcript). 
	39 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370. 
	40 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 118-19; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367. 
	41 

	See, e.g., Jo Becker, Matt Apuzzo, Adam Goldman, Trump Team Met with Lawyer Linked to Kremlin During Campaign, N.Y. TIMES, July 8, 2017 (cited in MUR 7266 Complaint at 4); Liam Stack, Donald Trump Jr.’s Two Different Explanations for Russian Meeting, N.Y. TIMES, July 9, 2017 (cited in MUR 7266 Complaint at 5). 
	42 
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	1 info1mation they suggested they had about Hillaiy Clinton I thought was Political Opposition 
	2 Reseai·ch. "In the same tweet, he released his coITespondence with Goldstone setting up the 
	43 

	3 meeting, some of which is quoted earlier in this repo1t. The full text of Tmmp Jr.' s statement 
	44 

	4 is as follows: 
	To everyone, in order to be totally transparent, I am releasing the entire email chain of my emails with Rob Goldstone about the meeting on June 9, 2016. llhefirstemail on June 3, 2016 was from Rob, who was r,elating a request from Emin, a perso.n I !knew from die 2013 Ms. Universe Pageant near Moscow. Eminand his father nave a very highly respected company in Moscow. The information tlleysuggestedl 
	they had abo\lt Hillary Clinton I thought was Politiu,I Opposition Research. I first wanted to just have a 
	phone call but when that didn't work out, they said the woman would be in NewYor~ and asked if I 
	would meet. Idecided to tike the meeting. The wom<!n, i!S she h;is s;iid publidy, w.is llOt ;11government 
	official. And, as we have 5,aid, she had no informatton to provide and wanted lo talk about adoption 
	policy and the Magnitsli:y Act To put this in context, this occurred before the current Russian fever was 
	in vogue. As Rob Goldstone sard just todav in the press, the entire meeting was "the most inane 
	nonsense I ever heard. And I was actually agitated b-y it. N 
	5 
	6 The Complaints allege that Tmmp Jr., as an agent of the Tnunp Committee, violated the 
	7 Act by soliciting a contribution from foreign nationals in the course ofsetting up and attending 
	8 this meeting. In addition, the Complaint in MUR 7266 alleges that Kushner and Manafo1t 
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	9 either solicited a prohibited foreign national contribution or substantially assisted in such a 
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	46
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	protected political speech under the First Amendment.
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	10 A. The Commission Finds Reason to Believe That Donald Trump Jr. 11 Impermissibly Solicited a Contribution from Russian Nationals 12 As discussed below, the contemplated free opposition research at issue in these matters 13 constitutes a thing of value and its provision to the Trump Committee, if it had in fact been 14 made, would have constituted a contribution under the Act.  Through his communications prior 
	Compl. at 15-16, MUR 7266 (“On June 8, 2016, Trump Jr. forwarded the email chain between himself and Goldstone to Kushner and Manafort, with the subject line ‘FW: Russia – Clinton – private and confidential.’ . . . By Kushner and Manafort participating in Trump Jr.’s arrangements to accept the foreign national contribution at an in-person meeting at Trump campaign headquarters, and by attending the meeting at which they had been told the contribution would be discussed, Kushner and Manafort solicited a cont
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	Id. at 16 (“Goldstone, by working to connect Russian nationals with Donald J. Trump for President Inc. officials for the purpose of effecting an in-kind contribution, and by providing substantial assistance to Trump Jr. in arranging the meeting at which that contribution was to be discussed and solicited, violated the prohibition on any person knowingly providing substantial assistance in the solicitation or making of a contribution or donation from a foreign national.”) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
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	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 5-7, 9-15 (Sept. 14, 2017). 
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	Id. at 7-9; see also Trump Committee Resp., (referring to response in MURs 7265, 7266, 
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	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7266. The Supplemental Complaint focuses on a legal argument rather than presenting new or updated factual allegations. 
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	Trump Committee Supp. Resp., MUR 7266 (June 12, 2019). 
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	1 to and during the June 9 meeting, Trump Jr. requested that foreign nationals provide that 2 information to the Trump Committee.  Therefore, the information before the Commission 3 indicates there is reason to believe that that Trump Jr. knowingly solicited a prohibited foreign 4 national contribution by requesting the damaging information on Clinton. 
	5 1. 6 7 8 The Act prohibits foreign nationals from “directly or indirectly” making a contribution or 
	Opposition Research is a Thing of Value and its Provision Without Charge 
	is a Contribution Under the Act 

	9 making “an express or implied promise to make a contribution” in connection with a federal, 10  A “foreign national” includes an individual who is not a citizen of the 11 United States or a national of the United States and who is not lawfully admitted for permanent 12 The Act and Commission regulations also prohibit any person from knowingly 13 To solicit means “to 14 ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, 15 donation, transfer of funds, or otherwis
	state, or local election.
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	19 community that foreign citizens do not have a constitutional right 20 to participate in, and thus may be excluded from, activities of 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A). 
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	Id. § 30121(b)(2). The term “foreign national” also includes “a foreign principal,” which is defined as, among other things, “a government of a foreign country.” Id. § 30121(b)(1) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 611(b)); see also Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 4583 (Devendra Singh and the Embassy of India) (finding reason to believe that the Indian Embassy as well as an embassy official knowingly and willfully violated the Act’s ban on foreign national contributions). 
	53 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g); see also id. § 110.20(a)(4) (definition of knowingly). 
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	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating the definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). 
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	1 democratic self-government.  It follows, therefore, that the United 2 States has a compelling interest for purposes of First Amendment 3 analysis in limiting the participation of foreign citizens in activities 4 of American democratic self-government, and in thereby 5 6 7 The Act defines “contribution” as “any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of 
	preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process.
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	8 money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for 
	9 Federal office.”  “[A]nything of value includes all in-kind contributions” such as “the provision 
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	10 of any goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual and normal 
	11 charge.”
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	12 Although goods or services provided by a person — foreign or domestic — at the usual 
	13 and normal charge do not constitute a contribution under the Act, soliciting, accepting, or 
	14 receiving information in connection with an election from a foreign national, as opposed to 
	15 purchasing the information at the usual and normal charge or hiring a foreign national in a bona 
	16 fide commercial transaction to perform services for the political committee, could potentially 
	17 result in the receipt of a prohibited in-kind contribution.  Indeed, the Commission has recognized 
	18 the “broad scope” of the foreign national contribution prohibition and found that even where the 
	19 value of a good “may be nominal or difficult to ascertain,” such contributions are nevertheless 
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	banned.
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	800 F. Supp. 2d 281, 288 (D.D.C. 2011), aff’d, 565 U.S. 1104 (2012). 
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	52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i). 
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	11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1); see Advisory Op. 2007-22 at 5 (Hurysz) (“AO 2007-22”). 
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	AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. 69928, 69940 (Nov. 19, 2002) (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, “Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,” Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value by foreign nationals.”) (emphasis added)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Brief at 24, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l Comm., et al.) (describing the legislative history of the foreign national pr
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	1 In other contexts, the Commission has concluded that the provision of certain 2 information, including a contact list, research, and descriptions and analysis of poll results, may 3 be things of value within the definition of “contribution.”  For instance, in MUR 5409 4 (Norquist, et al.), the Commission concluded that a master contact list of political activists was 5 “something of value, meeting the Act’s broad definition of contribution,” given that a 6 corporation had “utilized its resources to obtain
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	10 Senate Intelligence Committee Report as well as Trump Jr.’s own statement and release of 11 relevant email messages, indicates that the derogatory Clinton information that was offered by 12 the Agalarovs in Goldstone’s initial email and sought by Trump Jr. is a thing of value under the 13 Act.  When Goldstone first reached out to Trump Jr. on June 3, Goldstone explicitly referred to 14 “official documents and information that would incriminate Hillary and her dealings with 15 Russia” that would be shared
	See Factual & Legal Analysis at 13-20, MUR 6414 (Carnahan) (research services); Advisory Op. 1990-12 at 2 (Strub) (“AO 1992-12”) (description and analysis of poll results); First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission opinion) (list of activists provided to a campaign without charge were “of value” because they “may at least point [the campaign] in the direction of persons who might help [its] election efforts”); Cert., MUR 5409 ¶ 2 (Norquist, et al.) (Oct. 20, 2004
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	First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission opinion) (internal quotation marks omitted); Cert. ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (Oct. 20, 2004). The Commission found reason to believe that the respondents in MUR 5409 violated the prohibition on corporate contributions but took no further action because the value of the materials at issue appeared to be limited. First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10-11, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.); Cert. ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.). 
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	1 Mr. Trump.”Thus the record in the instant matters indicates that the offered and sought 2 material would have required utilization of resources. In characterizing the information as 3 “official” and coming from the Russian “Crown prosecutor” as part of part of “Russia and its 4 government’s support for Mr. Trump,”  Goldstone indicated that the Agalarovs were offering 5 information obtained or compiled by compensated personnel from the Russian government. 6 Further, the information offered and sought in th
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	when concluding that a compilation of materials was something of value.
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	10 documents and information being offered were “ultra sensitive,” conveying that, like the 11 information in MUR 5409, the proffered derogative information about Clinton was not readily or 12 13 The Response from the Trump Committee characterizes the offer and seeking of the 14 damaging information about Clinton, as well as the June 9 meeting as a “conversation” and 15 argues that such “pure speech” cannot be a contribution; more specifically, it argues that it 16 cannot be a “thing of value” The Trump 17 
	publicly available.
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	because its value cannot be appraised monetarily.
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (citing Email from Goldstone to Trump, Jr., 6/3/16 10:36am; @DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:01am), ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist) (adopted as dispositive). Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 9-12; Supp. Resp., MUR 7266 at 2. 
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	1 (McCaskill, et al.), in which those Commissioners explained that they voted against pursuing a 2 matter in which one committee shared high-level poll results with another committee at no 3 In that Statement of Reasons, which is not a precedential opinion from the 4 Commission, the three Commissioners reasoned that sharing “broad generalities” about a poll in 5 a conversation was not the sharing of “opinion poll results” as that phrase is used 11 C.F.R. § 6 106.4;those Commissioners further reasoned on pru
	charge.
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	value of the information conveyed would exceed the contribution limitation.
	69

	10 considerations would not apply in these matters because, while MUR 6958 involved a question 11 of whether domestic respondents exceeded the legal contribution thresholds, these matters 12 concern the Act’s outright prohibition on contributions from foreign nationals — a prohibition 13   The Commission has also recognized that 14 even contributions from foreign nationals that “may be nominal or difficult to ascertain” are 15 Moreover, as the Trump Committee recognizes in its Response, 
	the Commission has publicly prioritized as a focus.
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	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 10 (citing Statement of Reasons of Caroline C. Hunter, Lee E. Goodman, and Matthew S. Peterson, MUR 6958 (McCaskill, et al.)). 
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	Statement of Reasons of Caroline C. Hunter, Lee E. Goodman, and Matthew S. Peterson at 6, MUR 6958 (McCaskill, et al.). 
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	See Ltr. to House Comm. on Appropriations and Senate Comm. on Appropriations, Fed. Election Comm’n at 1, 17-18 (Sept. 18, 2018) (reporting on Commission’s role “in enforcing the foreign national prohibition, including how it identifies foreign contributions to elections, and what it plans to do in the future” as required by Explanatory Statement for 2018 Appropriations Act); Explanatory Statement to Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018, 164 Cong. Rec. at H2520. 
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	AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. at 69940 (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, “Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,” Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value by foreign nationals.”) 
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	1 these matters do not concern a conversation about opinion poll results, as that phrase is used in 2 11 C.F.R. § 106.4 and was analyzed in the Statement of Reasons in MUR 6958, but the broader 3 definition of “contribution.”4 Although the Trump Committee characterizes the June 9 meeting as a conversation with 5 “no ascertainable commercial value,” Trump Jr. himself publicly stated that the “pretext of the 6 meeting” was the provision of “information about your opponent” and further characterized the 7 info
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	10 that even contributions whose value11 Likewise, the Commission has found that indicia of paid personnel resources can support a pre12 investigatory finding of reason to believe that information is a thing of value under the Act.
	 “may be nominal or difficult to ascertain” are prohibited.
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	(emphasis added)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Brief at 24, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l Comm., et al.) (describing the legislative history of the foreign national prohibition which, “unlike other provisions of the Act, has its origins in, and essentially remains, a national security provision with broad application”). 
	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 10. 
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	Id. at 11-12. 
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	Compl. at 9, MUR 7266 (quoting Hannity Transcript). 
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	@DonaldJTrumpJr, TWITTER (July 11, 2017, 11:00a m.) (giving his statement on the Trump Tower meeting in connection with his public release of his email correspondence with Goldstone). 
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	See Factual & Legal Analysis at 16-19, MUR 6414 (Russ Carnahan in Congress Committee, et al.) (finding that free opposition research provided by a domestic firm could be a thing of value but dismissing the matter because of the small amount in violation). 
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	AO 2007-22 at 6. 
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	First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 8 n.12, MUR 5409 (“It is difficult to ascertain a market value for unique goods such as the materials [Respondent] provided to the Committee. The lack of a market, and thus the lack of a “usual and normal charge,” however, does not necessarily equate to a lack of value.” (emphasis added)). 
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	1 There does not appear to be any question that the research at issue was being offered for 2 less than its usual and normal cost; indeed, it was unambiguously being offered for free as “part 3 of Russia and its government’s support for Mr. Trump — helped along by Aras and Emin.”4 The Response does not argue that this was a standard business transaction, and the 5 communications leading up to the meeting made no suggestion of a commercial transaction.  6 There is likewise no indication in any of the investi
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	10 in the form of both white papers and meetings funded by prohibited sources — are so widely and 11 freely given to candidates and committees that to consider them all contributions would be 12   This point is overstated, however, because the Commission’s precedent does not 13 identify all forms of information as “contributions.”  Information that is a thing of value is a 14 contribution only when a gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of it is made “for the 15 purpose of influencing an election.”
	absurd.
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 2-4, 9-12. 
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	52 U.S.C. 30101(8)(A)(i). 
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	See, e.g., Advisory Op. 2000-08 (Harvey) at 1, 3 (“AO 2000-08”) (concluding private individual’s $10,000 “gift” to federal candidate would be a contribution because “the proposed gift would not be made but for the recipient’s status as a Federal candidate”); Advisory Op. 1988-22 (San Joaquin Valley Republican Associates) at 5 (concluding third party newspaper publishing comments regarding federal candidates, coordinated with those 
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	1 offered to and sought by “the Trump campaign” with an explicit focus on derogatory 2 information “that could be helpful to the campaign.” Goldstone not only told Trump Jr. that the 3 research was intended to help the Trump campaign but also specifically stated that the 4 information would “incriminate” Trump’s opponent and “be very useful to your father.”The 5 overall record in these matters suggests that the proposed provision of “official documents and 6 information” would not have been offered or sough
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	and the desire to obtain an electoral advantage.
	86 

	10 2. 11 12 13 The available information similarly indicates that Trump Jr.’s efforts to obtain 
	Trump Jr. Knowingly Solicited the Opposition Research From Foreign 
	Nationals 

	14 information from individuals he knew to be Russian nationals constituted a solicitation of a 
	15 contribution.  Commission regulations define “solicit” to mean “ask, request, or recommend, 
	candidates or their agents, thereby made contributions “for the purpose of influencing a federal election”); Factual & Legal Analysis at 17–20, MURs 4568, 4633, and 4634 (Triad Mgmt. Servs., Inc.) (finding reason to believe corporation and related nonprofit organizations made contributions by providing federal candidates with “uncompensated fundraising and campaign management assistance” and “advertising assistance[,]” including spending “several million dollars” on coordinated advertisements). 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347; see also id. at 348 n.2224 (indicating that Manafort recalled Trump Jr. said they were from Russia “and that they had derogatory information about Hillary Clinton”).. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	See AO 2000-08 (Harvey) at 1, 3 (concluding gift would be a contribution because it “would not be made but for the recipient’s status as a Federal candidate”). 
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	1 explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 2 otherwise provide anything of value.”3 A solicitation is an oral or written communication that, construed 
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	4 as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, 5 contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that 6 another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 7 otherwise provide anything of value.  A solicitation may be made 8 directly or indirectly.  The context includes the conduct of persons 9 
	involved in the communication.
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	10 Commission regulations include examples of statements that would constitute solicitations, 11 including but not limited to:  “I will not forget those who contribute at this crucial stage”;12 “[t]he candidate will be very pleased if we can count on you for $10,000”; and “[y]our 13 contribution to this campaign would mean a great deal to the entire party and to me 14 personally.”The Commission has also identified certain communications that qualify as 15 “solicitations,” such as “providing a separate card,
	89 
	90
	91 
	92 
	93 

	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). Id. § 300.2(m). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xi). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xii). Id. § 300.2(m)(2)(xiii). See id. § 300.2(m)(1) (listing examples). Special Counsel’s Report at 113; Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 347. 
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	1 example solicitation phrase in the Commission’s regulations that “the candidate will be very 2 pleased.”In a subsequent press interview, Trump Jr. acknowledged that the purpose of 3 following up on Goldstone’s message was to obtain the opposition research, stating that if 4 “someone has information on our opponent . . . maybe this is something.  I should hear them 5 out.”6 Critically, witnesses who were present at the June 9 meeting testified before a grand jury 7 as part of the Special Counsel’s investig
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	Jr. asked at the meeting about the damaging information about Clinton.
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	10 provide the derogatory information during the June 9 meeting, asking “could you show us how 11 the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?”  And Trump Jr. himself publicly acknowledged in a 12 media interview that “I was probably pressing [Veselnitskaya for information] because the 13 pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information about your opponent.’”When considered 14 in the context that the stated purpose of the June 9 meeting was to obtain the information 15 promised by the Agalarovs, Trump Jr.’s co
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	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)(2)(xii). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 119 (citing Hannity Transcript). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 118 (citing testimony of Akhmetshin for his testimony that Trump Jr. asked how specific payments could be tied to the Clinton campaign and Kaveladze for his testimony that Trump Jr. asked what the Russians had on Clinton); Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 349. 
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	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367. 
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	Compl. at 9, MUR 7266 (quoting Hannity Transcript); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370 (quoting Trump Jr. that the “meeting really wasn’t about anything that [Goldstone] said it was going to be about.”) 
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	1 “Could you show us how the money goes to Hillary’s campaign?” — constituted a request for 2 such information, which as set forth above, was something of value for the purpose of 3 influencing an election and, therefore, a contribution.  Accordingly, Trump Jr.’s communications 4 constitute an improper solicitation of a prohibited contribution under the Act.
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	5 3. 6 7 8 The Trump Committee’s Response does not seriously dispute that Trump Jr. requested 
	The Response’s First Amendment Argument Does Not Negate the 
	Prohibited Solicitation 

	9 damaging information on Clinton from the Russian nationals.Instead, the Trump Committee 10 observes that “general expressions of political support are not a contribution that can be 11 solicited.”  The Response does not identify any such expressions of political support sought by 12 Trump Jr., but argues that the meeting between Trump Jr. and the Russian nationals was political 13 issue speech — like an endorsement or an editorial in which a candidate’s voting record is 14 criticized — and therefore is pr
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	17 . . . such as a request to vote for, or volunteer on behalf of, a candidate.”  As discussed above 
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	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2). 
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	Trump Committee Resp., MURs 7265, 7266, at 14 (arguing that “as we have established, nothing of value was provided and therefore nothing could have been solicited as the term ‘to solicit’ is defined in the Act and regulations.”). 
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	Id.; see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). 
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	Id. at 8 (arguing that “American citizens unquestionably have a First Amendment right to ‘receive information and ideas’ from foreign nationals. It follows that the First Amendment protects the right of American citizens to talk to anyone, foreign nationals included, about the fitness of a political candidate for office.”) (italics omitted) (quoting Kleindeinst v. Mandel, 408 U.S. 753, 762 (1972)). 
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	Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13926, 13928 (Mar. 20, 2006) (explaining that “solicit” may also exclude “a candidate’s request for electoral or legislative support” unaccompanied by a “clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person provide funds or something of value.”). 
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	1 and contrary to the Response’s generalized First Amendment argument, Trump Jr.’s 
	2 communications with the Russian nationals were not limited to seeking political advice or 
	3 general support, such as an endorsement, but rather included clear messages that, in context, 
	4 asked the Russian nationals to provide something of value to the campaign.  To the contrary, 
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	5 Trump Jr. testified to the Senate Intelligence Committee that the Russians’ lobbying “about some 
	6 sort of policy” in the June 9 meeting “really wasn’t about anything that [Goldstone] said [the 
	7 meeting] was going to be about.”
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	8 4. 9 
	The Department of Justice’s Decision Not to Prosecute Does Not Preclude 
	Civil Enforcement 

	10 The Trump Committee argues that the Special Counsel’s Report confirms that no 
	11 violation of the Act occurred in connection with the June 9 meeting.However, the Special 
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	12 Counsel’s Report does not reach that conclusion.  Instead, the Report explains: 
	13 There are reasonable arguments that the offered information would 14 constitute a “thing of value” within the meaning of [the Act], but the 15 [Special Counsel’s] Office determined that the government would not be 16 likely to obtain and sustain a conviction for two other reasons:  first, the 17 [Special Counsel’s] Office did not obtain admissible evidence likely to 18 meet the government’s burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 19 these individuals acted “willfully,” i.e., with general knowledge
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	See, e.g., Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 367 (“show us how the money goes to Hillary’s campaign”); Special Counsel’s Report at 113 (“I love it”). 
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	Senate Intelligence Committee Report at 370; see also Hannity Transcript (Trump Jr. explaining, “the pretext of the meeting was, ‘Hey, I have information about your opponent.’”). 
	105 

	Trump Committee Supp. Resp , MUR 7266 at 1. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 186. 
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	1 In fact, when the Special Counsel’s Office examined Commission precedent regarding “thing of 2 value,” that Office came to the legal conclusion that “[t]hese authorities would support the view 3 that candidate-related opposition research given to a campaign for the purpose of influencing an 4 election could constitute a contribution to which the foreign-source ban could apply.”5 The Special Counsel’s decision not to prosecute anyone in connection with the June 9 6 meeting, as explained above, was based on
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	10 have to establish a violation of the Act based upon a preponderance of the evidence— 11 regardless of whether the respondent was aware of the illegality.Indeed, in previous cases 12 where the Department of Justice was unable to secure criminal convictions for a violation of the 13 Act, the Commission has successfully conciliated with respondents on a non-knowing and 14 willful basis to ensure that the interests of the Act were served.Moreover, for the 
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	Id. at 187. 
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	See Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 387 (1983) (“In a typical civil suit for money damages, plaintiffs must prove their case by a preponderance of the evidence.”). 
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	See Conciliation Agreement, MUR 7221 (James Laurita, Jr.) (respondent admitted to non-knowing and willful violations of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30122 after his criminal trial ended in a hung jury); Conciliation Agreement, MUR 5818 (Fieger, Fieger, Kenney, Johnson & Giroux, P.C.) (corporate respondent entered into conciliation agreement on non-knowing and willful basis for violations of sections 30118 and 30122 after criminal trial of individual defendants resulted in acquittal). 
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	1 Commission to find reason to believe in these administrative proceedings at this stage, the 2 information before the Commission need only raise a reasonable inference, i.e., credibly allege, 3 that a violation occurred.4 With regard to valuation, the Special Counsel’s Office noted that the $25,000 value of the 5 opposition research necessary to establish a felony criminal charge would be difficult to 6 determine in part because no actual valuable information was provided.  This difficulty in 7 valuing the
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	10 issue.  Consequently, the Special Counsel’s decision not to file suit against respondents is not 11 a bar to civil enforcement of the Act. Pursuing civil enforcement here would serve to vindicate 12 the Act’s purpose of limiting foreign influence over the U.S. political process.13 B. Because Trump Jr. Acted as an Agent of the Trump Committee, the 
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	14 Commission Finds Reason to Believe That the Trump Committee 15 Impermissibly Solicited a Contribution from Russian Nationals 16 In the soft money context, Commission regulations define “agent” as “any person who 17 has actual authority, either express or implied, . . . [t]o solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend 
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	10 was both aware of Trump Jr.’s actions and consented to them.  Therefore, because the record 11 supports a conclusion that Trump Jr. acted as an agent of the Trump Committee when he 12 knowingly solicited a contribution from foreign nationals, the Commission finds reason to 13 believe that the Trump Committee, through its agent, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 14 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national. 
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	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 
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	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity 
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	) 

	as treasurer; Donald Trump, Jr.; Paul 
	as treasurer; Donald Trump, Jr.; Paul 
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	Manafort; Jared Kushner; Rob Goldstone 
	Manafort; Jared Kushner; Rob Goldstone 
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	CERTIFICATION 
	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive session, do hereby certify that on March 09, 2021, the Commission took the following actions in the above-captioned matter:  
	1. Failed by a vote of 3-3 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Dismiss under Heckler v. Chaney and the pending statute of limitations 

	b. 
	b. 
	Close the file. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Send the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Cooksey, Dickerson, and Trainor voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub dissented. 
	2. Failed by a vote of 3-3 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President and Bradley 

	T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, and Donald J.Trump, Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Generate Aras Agalarov and Emin Agalarov as respondents in these matters. 
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	c. 
	c. 
	c. 
	c. 
	Take no action at this time regarding the allegations that Jared Kushner and Paul Manafort violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 

	C.F.R. § 110.20(g), (h) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national or substantially assisting in the solicitation of a contribution from a foreign national. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Approve the Factual and Legal Analyses, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated February 5, 2021. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Authorize pre-probable cause conciliation with Donald J. Trump for President and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, and Donald J. Trump, Jr. prior to a finding of probable cause to believe. 

	f. 
	f. 
	Approve the proposed conciliation agreements, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated February 5, 2021. 

	g. 
	g. 
	Find reason to believe that Rob Goldstone violated 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(h) by substantially assisting the solicitation of a contribution from a foreign national. 

	h. 
	h. 
	Direct the Office of General Counsel to draft a corresponding Factual and Legal Analysis. 

	i. 
	i. 
	Authorize pre-probable cause conciliation with Rob Goldstone. 

	k. 
	k. 
	Direct the Office of General Counsel to draft the appropriate letters. 


	j. Direct the Office of General Counsel to draft a pre-probable cause conciliation agreement 
	Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Cooksey, Dickerson, and Trainor dissented. 
	3. Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Close the file. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Send the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. 
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	Vicktoria J. Allen Acting Deputy Secretary of the Commission 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	April 15, 2021 

	CERTIFIED MAIL – RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	CERTIFIED MAIL – RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	CERTIFIED MAIL – RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	VIA EMAIL: pryan@commoncause.org 


	Paul S. Ryan Common Cause 805 Fifteenth Street, NW Suite 800 Washington, DC 20005 
	RE: MURs 7265, 7266 
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. et al. 
	Dear Mr. Ryan: 
	The Federal Election Commission has considered the allegations contained in your complaints dated July 10, 2017, and July 13, 2017, but there was an insufficient number of votes to find reason to believe that Respondents violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.  Accordingly, on March 9, 2021, the Commission closed the file in these matters. A Statement of Reasons providing a basis for the Commission’s decision will follow.  
	Documents related to these cases will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. 
	The Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action. See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8).  If you have any questions, please contact Amanda Andrade, the attorney assigned to these matters, at (202) 694-1650. 
	Sincerely, 
	Jin Lee Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Figure

	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	April 15, 2021 
	VIA EMAIL: asfuterfas@futerfaslaw.com 
	VIA EMAIL: asfuterfas@futerfaslaw.com 
	VIA EMAIL: asfuterfas@futerfaslaw.com 
	VIA EMAIL: asfuterfas@futerfaslaw.com 


	Alan S. Futerfas 565 Fifth Street, 7 Floor New York, NY 10017 
	th

	RE: MURs 7265, 7266 Donald Trump, Jr. 
	Dear Mr. Futerfas: 
	On July 17, 2017, and July 20, 2017, the Federal Election Commission notified your client, Donald Trump, Jr., of complaints alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. 
	On March 9, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe your client violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g).  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter. 
	Documents related to these cases will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. A Statement of Reasons explaining the Commission’s decision will follow. 
	If you have any questions, please contact Amanda Andrade, the attorney assigned to these matters, at (202) 694-1650. 
	Jin Lee Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure

	Figure


	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	April 15, 2021 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 


	E. Stewart Crosland Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 
	RE: MURs 7265, 7266 
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official     
	capacity as treasurer 
	Dear Mr. Crosland: 
	On July 17, 2017, and July 20, 2017, the Federal Election Commission notified your firm of complaints alleging that your clients, Make America Great Again PAC (formerly known as Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. 
	On March 9, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe your clients violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g).  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in these matters. 
	Documents related to these cases will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. A Statement of Reasons explaining the Commission’s decision will follow. 
	If you have any questions, please contact Amanda Andrade, the attorney assigned to these matters, at (202) 694-1650. 
	Jin Lee Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure











